
FEDERAL HEALTH CARE SPENDING

Y 4. B 85/3: 103-2

Federal Health Care Spendingi Seria...

BEFORE THE

COMMITTEE ON THE BUDGET
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

ONE HUNDRED THIRD CONGRESS

FIRST SESSION

HEARING HELD IN WASHINGTON, DC, FEBRUARY 17, 1993

Serial No. 103-2

Printed for the use of the Committee on the Budget

f^AY25l993

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

fi4-972 ±5 WASHINGTON : 1993

For sale by the U.S. Govemmenl Printing Office

Superintendent of Documents. Congressional Sales Office. Washington, DC 20402

ISBN 0-16-040288-3





0^ FEDERAL HEALTH CARE SPENDING

Y 4. B 85/3: 103-2

Federal Health Care Spendini). Seria...

j:i.ii</^x\±NG
BEFORE THE

COMMITTEE ON THE BUDGET
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

ONE HUNDRED THIRD CONGRESS

FIRST SESSION

HEARING HELD IN WASHINGTON, DC, FEBRUARY 17, 1993

Serial No. 103-2

Printed for the use of the Committee on the Budget

"'''^^^^^v"^

MAY 2 5 1393

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

«4-972 ±=i WASHINGTON : 1993

For sale by the U.S. Government Printing Office

Superintendent of Documents. Congressional Sales Office. Washington. DC 20402

ISBN 0-16-040288-3



COMMITTEE ON THE BUDGET

MARTIN OLAV SABO, Minnesota, Chairman

RICHARD A. GEPHARDT, Missouri

DALE E. KILDEE, Michigan
ANTHONY C. BEILENSON, California

HOWARD L. HERMAN, California

ROBERT E. WISE, Jr., West Virginia
JOHN BRYANT, Texas
JOHN M. SPRATT, Jr., South Carolina

CHARLES W. STENHOLM, Texas
BARNEY FRANK, Massachusetts

JIM COOPER, Tennessee
LOUISE McINTOSH SLAUGHTER, New
York

MIKE PARKER, Mississippi
WILLIAM J, COYNE, Pennsylvania
BARBARA B. KENNELLY, Connecticut

MICHAEL A. ANDREWS, Texas
ALAN B. MOLLOHAN, West Virginia
BART GORDON, Tennessee
DAVID E. PRICE, North Carolina

JERRY F. COSTELLO, Illinois

HARRY JOHNSTON, Florida

PATSY T. MINK, Hawaii
BILL ORTON, Utah
LUCIEN E. BLACKWELL, Pennsylvania
EARL POMEROY, North Dakota

JOHN R. KASICH, Ohio
J. ALEX McMillan, North Carolina

JIM KOLBE, Arizona

CHRISTOPHER SHAYS, Connecticut

OLYMPIA J. SNOWE, Maine
WALLY HERGER, California

JIM RUNNING, Kentucky
LAMAR S. SMITH, Texas

CHRISTOPHER COX, California

WAYNE ALLARD, Colorado

DAVID L. HOBSON, Ohio
DAN MILLER, Florida

RICK LAZIO, New York
BOB FRANKS, New Jersey
NICK SMITH, Michigan
BOB INGLIS, South Carolina

MARTIN R. HOKE. Ohio

Eileen M. Baumgartner, Chief of Staff
Richard E. May, Republican Staff Director

(II)



CONTENTS

Page

Hearing held in Washington, DC, February 18, 1992 1

Statement of:

Reischauer, Hon. Robert D., Director, Congressional Budget Office 3

Prepared statements, letters, supplemental materials, et cetera:

Blackwell, Hon. Lucien E., a Representative in Congress from the State of

Pennsylvania, prepared statement of 57

Reischauer, Hon. Robert D., Director, Congressional Budget Office, pre-
pared statement of 7

Sabo, Hon. Martin Olav, a Representative in Congress from the State of

Minnesota, prepared statement of 2

(III)





FEDERAL HEALTH CARE SPENDING

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 17, 1993

House of Representatives,
Committee on the Budget,

Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:03 a.m.. Room 210,
Cannon House Office Building, Hon. Martin Olav Sabo, Chairman,
presiding.
Members present: Representatives Sabo, Kildee, Wise, Bryant,

Stenholm, Coyne, Andrews, Mollohan, Gordon, Price, Costello,

Mink, Orton, Blackwell, Pomeroy, Kasich, McMillan, Kolbe, Snowe,
Smith of Texas, Cox, Allard, Hobson, Miller, Lazio, Smith of Michi-

gan, Inglis, and Hoke.
Chairman Sabo. Good morning. The House Budget Committee is

in session. This morning's hearing will be on Federal health care

spending, focusing on the two largest programs, medicare and med-
icaid.

First, I would like to welcome back Dr. Robert Reischauer, the
Director of CBO.
Health care represents a very large part of our national budget.

The United States last year spent about $840 billion on health,
about 14 percent of our GNP. It is projected to grow to $940 billion

this year, and CBO projects that total health care spending will

reach $1.7 trillion by the year 2000 and consume 18 percent of our

gross domestic product. Clearly, we spend more than most coun-

tries, yet leave many people uninsured in our country.
The Federal Government pays about a quarter of our national

health care bill. In 1992, we will have spent about $223 billion on a

variety of programs, the two biggest being medicare, where in 1992
we spent $119 billion, and medicaid, $68 billion.

CBO cites this spending on health care as the main reason for

the large Federal deficits in the 1990's. They are the fastest grow-
ing parts of the Federal budget and are the only major programs
estimated to increase significantly during the rest of the decade.
We look forward to hearing from you today, Dr. Reischauer, to

explain the reasons for this explosive growth in the medicare and
medicaid programs, where we are going, and what the impact is on
the Federal budget and Federal deficit if we don't control this ex-

plosion.
I should make it clear that our hearing today is basically analyti-

cal. It is about what has happened, and what is likely to happen in

the future. It is really not focusing on alternatives for changing the
total health care system, but what is happening within medicare
and medicaid. So we look forward to hearing from you.

(1)



[The prepared statement of Hon. Martin Olav Sabo follows:]

Prepared Statement of Hon. Martin Olav Sabo, a Representative in C!ongress
FROM THE State of Minnesota

Good morning. The House Budget Committee is in session. This morning's hearing
will be on Federal health care spending—focusing on the two largest programs,
medicare and medicaid.

First, I would like to welcome back Dr. Robert Reischauer, the Director of the

Congressional Budget Office (CBO).
For all Americans, health care spending represents a very large part of our na-

tional budget. The United States last year spent about $840 billion on health—more
than 14 percent of the Nation's total economic output. The Department of Com-
merce, which released the latest health spending data, estimates that the U.S. will

spend approximately $940 billion this year. CBO projects that total health spending
will reach $1.7 trillion by the year 2000 and consume 18 percent of our gross domes-
tic product (GDP).
The United States spends more per capita and more as a percentage of national

income than any other industrialized nation, yet falls below most countries in many
health indicators such as infant mortality and life expectancy. Despite billions of

Federal outlays each year, more than 35 million Americans have no health insur-

ance coverage.
The Federal Government foots more than a quarter of our current national

health care bill. When all the bills are in, the Federal Government will have spent
about $223 billion on health in 1992, with medicare accounting for $119 billion and
medicaid $68 billion. CBO cites Federal spending on health as the main reason for

the exorbitant Federal deficits in the 1990's. Medicare and medicaid are the fastest

growing parts of the Federal budget and are the only major programs estimated to

increase significantly during the rest of the decade. CBO estimates that the Federal

deficit will exceed $500 billion by the year 2000 and $650 billion by the year 2003,

largely as a result of soaring medicare and medicaid costs.

We look forward to hearing Dr. Reischauer explain the reasons for the explosive

growth in medicare and medicaid, where we are going, and what may be the impact
on the Federal deficit if we can't control this explosion.
The United States has the dual dilemma of soaring health care costs and lack of

health care access for 16 percent of our populace. The President and Congress must
deal with these troubling issues. We know that we must close the gap in health

care. We also know that, if we can't control our health care costs, we can't make the

deficit reduction planned by President Clinton stick. It is as simple as that. I am
committed to solving these problems, and I look forward to your help. Dr. Reis-

chauer.

Chairman Sabo. Mr. Kasich, any comments?
Mr. Kasich. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I again want to wel-

come Dr. Reischauer here.

Obviously, it is a complicated area. I think sometimes we make it

out to be more complicated than it is. We have got to make some
hard choices, and I hope you can put us in a position over the next
several weeks, Doctor, to outline what some of the real alternatives

are and what some of the real choices are, in order to get things
under control.

It is obviously critical that we get it under control because in

order to make significant reductions in the budget deficit, we have
to control medicare and medicaid. Now, the President is talking, I

guess, about $35 to $40 billion in medicaid and medicare cuts that

are not part of a reform package. And that may be achievable, but
it will, in fact, involve cranking down the reimbursement rates to

doctors, hospitals, and perhaps making some further contributions

on medicare Part B, something I have supported and proposed ini-

tially about 4 years ago.
I think that is possible to do and may even be desirable, but at

the same time, I think it is important to realize that those kind of



green-eyeshade games don't exlain what we need to do to reduce
health care spending in the out-years. It is going to take much
broader appHcation.

I would imagine that the Democrats as well as the Republicans
are going to have great difficulty in year 3 and 4 of any budget
plan. It will be difficult to be specific about numbers that produce
long-term savings until Mrs. Clinton, Senator Chafee and Bob
Michel all have a chance to sit down and put together their long
term strategy for the problem of health care costs.

But I think it is important you are here briefing a number of

members here who have not had the opportunity to spend a lot of

time on health care. For our side, Congressman McMillan, Con-

gressman Hobson, and myself served for 18 months on Bob
Michel's task force. It was very interesting. We learned an awful
lot. And really the entire Congress and the American people have
got to understand what the choices are with health care.

Again, I don't think they are that complicated, but I think it re-

quires some guts, just like everything else we do in budgeting. So I

want to welcome you here this morning.
Chairman Sabo. Thank you, John.
Dr. Reischauer?

STATEMENT OF HON. ROBERT D. REISCHAUER, DIRECTOR,
CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET OFFICE

Dr. Reischauer. Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, I ap-
preciate the opportunity to appear before you today and discuss the
effect of health care spending on the Federal budget. With your
permission, I am going to submit my prepared statement for the

record, and I will summarize that statement here this morning.
Health care spending is by far the most rapidly growing compo-

nent of the Federal budget. It is projected to grow by more than 11

percent annually between 1993 and 1998 and will constitute nearly
a quarter of Federal spending by 1998. That would be up from 13.4

percent of the budget in 1990, so we are seeing a huge increase in
the relative importance of health in public spending.

Clearly, it will be difficult, if not impossible, to control Federal

spending and to reduce the deficit if changes are not made in the
current patterns of spending on health care. About 85 percent of
health care spending in the Federal budget is for medicare or med-
icaid, so I will focus my remarks on those two programs.
Medicare has two components. The Hospital Insurance, or HI,

component covers acute care services that are provided in hospi-
tals, hospices, and skilled nursing facilities, and it also covers some
home health care services. Hospital benefits account for about 80

percent of all HI spending, but it is the costs of the other services
that are growing most rapidly. For example, while hospital spend-
ing is expected to increase by about 8 percent this year, home
health spending will rise by nearly 38 percent, and spending for

hospices and skilled nursing facilities will each increase by over 20

percent.
HI payments are increasing more than twice as fast as the reve-

nues from the HI payroll tax, and beginning in 1994, payments are
going to exceed revenues. This means that the $127 billion surplus.



or balance, in the HI trust fund is going to begin declining—and
declining rapidly—after 1994. It will be exhausted, we estimate,
sometime in the year 2001, which suggests that the Congress is not

going to be able to avoid this problem. Some remedial action will

be required if nothing else is done for the HI program before the
turn of the century.
The second component of the medicare program is Supplementa-

ry Medical Insurance, or SMI, which pays for physician services,

outpatient hospital services, and other types of ambulatory care.

Over the next 5 years, spending for physician services will rise at

about 13 percent a year by CBO's estimates, while spending for out-

patient hospital services will grow by almost 18 percent a year.
SMI participants, as you know, must pay monthly premiums that

are set to cover roughly one-quarter of the program's costs. The re-

mainder is made up from general funds from the Treasury. After

1995, premium increases for the SMI program are going to be limit-

ed to the social security cost-of-living adjustment; in other words,
we can't increase the premium rates faster than the COLA.

Since SMI costs, of course, are expected to grow one heck of a lot

faster than the social security COLA, this means that under cur-

rent law the drain on general revenues is going to mount rapidly.
It will be a bit over $46 billion in the current year. By 1998, it

would be over $91 billion. So we are facing a problem in that part
of the medicare program as well.

Over the past decade, major changes have been made in the way
that medicare reimburses providers for services. Retrospective cost-

based reimbursement for inpatient hospital services has been re-

placed with a prospective payment system that pays hospitals a

predetermined amount based on the patient's diagnosis, on the
treatment the patient receives, and on certain characteristics of

the hospital.
When this new system was introduced in 1983, it provided hospi-

tals with incentives for efficiency that did not exist under the old

cost-based reimbursement system. These incentives led to a signifi-
cant slowdown in the real growth of hospital spending per enrollee.

The annual increase in per-enrollee spending slowed from around 4

percent between 1983 and 1984 to less than 1 percent between 1985
and 1987, and then kicked up to about 1.5 percent between 1987
and 1991.

Because the hospital admission rate is rising again and because
some fat, in a sense, has been cut out of the system, CBO expects
this increase in per-enrollee real spending to bounce back up to

about 5 percent a year over the next 5 years. In other words, we
have achieved some savings, but it is not proper to assume that

they are going to occur in the future.

A new Medicare Fee Schedule for physician services was put in

place in January of last year. It replaced the payment system
under which medicare's rates were set separately for each physi-
cian at the lowest of actual charges, the physician's customary
charges, or the locally prevailing charge for whatever the service

was.
The new fee schedule is based on something called a resource-

based relative value scale. Some variation in fees is allowed to re-



fleet local differences in medical practice costs—that is, the cost of

running an office in Los Angeles versus in Omaha.
The fee schedule rates are updated each year based on growth in

an index of practice costs. They are adjusted up or down depending
on whether growth in the volume of services 2 years earlier fell

below or above the target rate that Congress had set for it under
the volume performance standards. CBO projects that medicare

spending per enroUee on physician services will grow at about 11

percent annually over the next 5 years. It is important to realize

that part of this increase is attributable to the fact that physician
expenditures in 1992 came in under the volume performance stand-

ard target. Therefore, these fees will be boosted significantly start-

ing in 1994.

The other big Federal health program is the State-administered
medicaid program, which provides medical care to certain low-

income people. The Federal Government pays between 50 percent
and 79 percent of the program's costs, depending on the State's per
capita income. States must provide medicaid coverage for some
groups, such as AFDC and SSI recipients and pregnant women and
children with incomes below certain thresholds. Medicaid also must
pay the medicare premiums and cost sharing for certain low-

income medicare beneficiaries. States also have an option to cover
additional groups.
The Federal Government mandates that States provide certain

benefits under medicaid, but States have the option to cover cer-

tain other specified services. In most States, medicaid provides
comprehensive coverage that exceeds many private health pack-
ages, with no requirement or a very minimal requirement for cost

sharing on the part of the beneficiary.
Although the program is directed at low-income people, only

about half of the population with income below the poverty line

was covered by medicaid in 1991. Some people who are living in

poverty have private insurance provided by an employer or that

they have purchased themselves, but many others are not eligible
for medicaid and therefore are uninsured. If all of the uninsured

people below the poverty level had been eligible for medicaid in

1991, about 10 million more people would have been covered by the

program.
Total medicaid expenditures reached $119 billion in 1992. About

57 percent of that amount represented Federal spending, and the
balance represented contributions by the States.

In recent years, medicaid spending has been exploding. From
1989 to 1991, total medicaid spending grew at an annual pace of
about 23 percent, and in 1992 the rate was 29 percent. CBO expects
medicaid spending to grow by about 18 percent this year and then
to slow down to about 13 percent between 1993 and 1998.
The unprecedented pace of recent medicaid growth has stemmed

mainly from three factors. First, enrollment has risen, largely be-

cause of the weak economy and because legislation has expanded
eligibility, and States have also increased their efforts to enroll

low-income pregnant women and children. Second, medical prices
have increased significantly, which has had a big effect. And third,
in 1991 and 1992, in particulai. States dramatically expanded their
use of various financing mechanisms that allowed them to boost



the Federal Government's matching payments to them. They did

this as a response to the fiscal stress that they were under.
More than two-thirds of medicaid's beneficiaries are low-income

children and adults, and that is the way most Americans view this

program. But from a financial standpoint, it is a very misleading
impression because 70 percent of medicaid payments are made on
behalf of the 30 percent of medicaid beneficiaries who are aged or

disabled. In other words, most of the bucks are being spent for aged
and disabled people, not low-income mothers and children.

A significant portion of this spending, of course, is for long-term
care, which is not covered by the medicare program. Nearly 40 per-
cent of medicaid payments in 1991 were for nursing home services.

So keep in mind that this program has a very, very large compo-
nent that pays for nursing home care for disabled and elderly indi-

viduals.

Because they face burgeoning medicaid costs and pressures to in-

crease their reimbursement rates. States have turned increasingly
to voluntary donations and taxes on health care providers to fi-

nance their share of medicaid's expenditures. These devices can

generate additional Federal matching dollars without correspond-

ing expenditures of State funds. Estimates suggest that these

schemes cost the Federal Government almost $3.8 billion in 1991

and probably more than that in 1992. In November 1991, Congress
enacted legislation that places some restrictions on the use of pro-
vider donations and taxes, so that situation is not getting worse
and is probably improving modestly.
Some hard-pressed States have also used the flexibility that is al-

lowed them under medicaid's disproportionate share adjustment
for fiscal relief Disproportionate share adjustments are payments
to institutions that serve disproportionately large numbers of low-

income patients. Recent legislation has capped these payments at

12 percent of medicaid expenditures, both in the State and nation-

ally. But various States were grandfathered at a higher level.

Therefore, it is going to be a few years before the disproportionate
share payments for other States can rise to 12 percent.

Let me conclude by saying a few words about the inexorable link

between Federal spending for health care and overall health care

spending. This, in a way, is relevant to some of the suggestions that

Mr. Kasich was mentioning.
In a complex multipayer system such as ours, it is impossible to

constrain costs by one payer without having a profound impact on
other payers because cost shifting occurs. Nowhere is this more

clearly illustrated than in the area of hospital costs.

Year in and year out, medicaid's reimbursements for hospital
services have been lower than hospitals' costs. In other words, we
have been buying medicaid services from hospitals on the cheap. In

1990, reimbursement was estimated to average only about 80 per-
cent of the costs incurred by the hospital for the service rendered.

The situation was quite different in medicare, where, after we in-

troduced the prospective payment system, reimbursement rates

were considerably higher than the costs of the hospital. But over

the last half of the 1980's, we restrained the increase in these reim-

bursements significantly, to the point that now medicare payments



are estimated to cover just 90 percent of the costs that hospitals
incur for medicare patients.
While these public-sector payment rates might be heralded as

representing a great saving to the taxpayer, such a conclusion

would be naive, because what taxpayers have saved in direct tax

payments they have had to fork over indirectly.

Payments to hospitals from private insurance payers exceed the

cost of treating those patients by about 28 percent. In other words,
the charges that are received from Blue Cross/Blue Shield or Pru-

dential or whomever are in excess of the cost of the services deliv-

ered to their patients so that hospitals can make up for the loss

that they incur with respect to medicare and medicaid patients.

Thus, what taxpayers have saved in taxes they have made up for

in higher premiums for employment-based and individual policies.

So, in the aggregate, there probably has been no saving. This sug-

gests that efforts to control the explosion of Federal health care

costs must have a systemic focus. They must look beyond the bor-

ders of medicare and medicaid.
While this makes the task more difficult, the need to curb the

rate of growth in health care spending is obvious. It will be diffi-

cult, as I said at the beginning, to bring the deficit under control if

health care spending continues to run amok; furthermore, the
ranks of the uninsured will grow if we let health care costs rise so

rapidly. Health coverage will be unaffordable to more and more in-

dividuals and more and more companies. And you will see the

growth of cash wages curbed because more of compensation will be
diverted to pay for increased benefit costs that the employer must
bear. And so the time is now. This is, as Mr. Kasich said, an ex-

tremely difficult issue to grapple with, but it is good to see that
this committee is focusing on the issue.

I will be glad to answer any questions the committee has.

[The prepared statement of Dr. Robert D. Reischauer follows:]

Prepared Statement of Hon. Robert D. Reischauer, Director, Congressional
Budget Office

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to testify before the committee on the
effect of health care spending on the Federal deficit. I will also provide more de-

tailed information on the medicare and medicaid programs and the factors that are

causing spending for these programs to rise so swiftly. Finally, my testimony will

examine the relationship between Federal and overall spending for health care in

the United States.

HEALTH CARE SPENDING AND THE FEDERAL BUDGET

Over the next five years, the Federal budget deficit is projected to increase, and
the major factor driving that growth is entitlement programs for health care.

Spending on health was 13.4 percent of the Federal budget in 1990 will be approxi-
mately 17.5 percent in 1993, and the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) projects
that health expenditures will account for nearly one-quarter of the budget by 1998
(see Table 1).

Health care is by far the most rapidly growing component of the Federal budget.
In fact, every other major component of the Federal budget is either declining or

growing more slowly. CBO projects that growth in spending on health within the
Federal budget will average more than 11 percent a year between 1993 and 1998.

This growth rate, which represents more than 8 percent after adjusting for project-
ed inflation, is considerably higher than that projected for other components of the

budget (see Figure 1). Net interest and social security are projected to increase at

inflation-adjusted annual rates of about 5 percent and 2 percent, respectively. The
other components of the Federal budget are projected to decline.
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Clearly, controlling Federal spending and reducing the budget deficit will be ex-

tremely difficult—if not impossible—if no change takes place in current patterns of

spending on health care. Since about 85 percent of Federal spending on health is for

medicare and medicaid—and they are growing much more rapidly than any other
health programs—this testimony will concentrate primarily on these two entitle-

ment programs.

THE MEDICARE PROGRAM

Medicare was enacted in 1965 and put into place in July 1966. The program was
designed to ensure that older Americans would have access to health care after they
were no longer working. Anyone who is age 65 and eligible for social security bene-
fits is automatically eligible for Hospital Insurance (HI), which covers acute care
services provided in hospitals, hospices, and skilled nursing facilities, as well as
some home health care. Supplementary Medical Insurance (SMI), which covers phy-
sician services, outpatient hospital services, and other ambulatory care, covers indi-

viduals who are at least 65 and elect to participate in the program. In addition to

the aged, many people who are severely disabled or who have end-stage renal dis-

ease are eligible for medicare, under provisions enacted in 1972 that extended the

program.
In 1993, approximately 31.5 million people age 65 and older and 3.5 million dis-

abled people are covered under the HI program. About 31 million aged and 3.2 mil-

lion disabled people are enrolled in SMI. The number of medicare enrollees is pro-

jected to increase about 2 percent a year over the next five years.
Because medicare is available to nearly all people age 65 or older, only about

300,000 elderly people were uninsured in 1992. Thus, the medicare program accom-

plishes its intended objective—to extend access to health care to older Americans.

Although nearly every worker has contributed to the HI trust fund, current medi-
care enrollees receive a substantial subsidy under that program. CBO estimates that

for the cohort of people who became 65 in 1992, medicare will pay at least 60 per-
cent more per person for HI benefits over their lifetimes than the value of their

contributions and those made by their employers. In 1992 dollars, this amount rep-
resents an annual subsidy of about $2,000 per enrollee. In addition to the HI subsi-

dy, those enrolled in the SMI program pay only about one-quarter of the costs of the
benefits they receive under SMI.

Spending for Medicare

HI spending is estimated to be about $91 billion in 1993, rising to almost $149
billion in 1998. Although hospital benefits account for more than 80 percent of HI
spending, the costs of other services have risen much more dramatically in the past

year—for example, hospital spending is estimated to have increased about 8 percent
between fiscal year 1992 and fiscal year 1993 compared with nearly 38 percent for

home health care, 22 percent for hospice care, and 28 percent for skilled nursing
facility care. After adjusting for inflation, hospital spending growth was estimated
to be nearly 5 percent, with home health care, hospice care, and skilled nursing fa-

cility care growing about 34 percent, 18 percent, and 25 percent, respectively. The
reasons for such rapid growth vary and are not fully understood. CEO's projections
assume that it will not continue over the 1993-1998 period.

During the 1993-1998 period, HI payments are projected to increase more than
twice as fast as revenues, however, and beginning in 1994 they will exceed revenues
from the HI payroll tax (2.9 percent on earnings up to $134,700 in 1993). In fact, the

$127 billion projected balance in the HI trust fund at the end of 1993 will decline

rapidly, and the trust fund is expected to be exhausted during 2001.

Overall SMI spending—including the portion paid by enrollees' premiums—is pro-

jected to increase from $58 billion in 1993 to $113 billion in 1998. Spending for phy-
sician services—which accounts for about 54 percent of SMI—is projected to rise at

an average annual rate of nearly 13 percent over the 1993-1998 period, and spend-

ing for outpatient hospital services—which accounts for 21 percent of SMI—is pro-

jected to grow an average of nearly 18 percent annually. After adjusting for project-
ed inflation over the 1993-1998 period, physician and outpatient spending are ex-

pected to rise about 10 percent and 14 percent a year, respectively.
The premium paid by those voluntarily enrolled in SMI—$36.60 per month in

1993—is set by law at a level intended to cover 25 percent of the program's cost

through 1995. In 1996 and beyond, increases in premiums are limited to the percent-

age increase in the social security cost-of-living adjustments. The remaining financ-

ing comes from general tax revenues. In 1993, more than $46 billion in general reve-

nues will be necessary; by 1998, that amount is projected to reach $91 billion.



Medicare s Payment System for Hospitals

In the Social Security Amendments of 1983, the Congress replaced retrospective,

cost-based reimbursement for inpatient hospital services provided to medicare bene-

ficiaries with the prospective payment system (PPS). Under this system, hospitals

are paid a predetermined amount for each medicare patient, based on the patient's

diagnosis and treatment and on certain characteristics of the hospital. If the ex-

penses associated with treating the patient are less than the payment, the hospital

can keep the surplus. If the cost exceeds the payment, however, then the hospital

incurs a loss.

The payment rates used by the PPS reflect the variations in costs among hospi-

tals that result from factors considered to be beyond the hospital's control and not

related to its efficiency. Payments are therefore adjusted for certain cost-related fac-

tors, such as labor costs in the local area. The PPS currently applies separate rates

to hospitals in large urban areas (those with populations of more than 1 million),

other urban areas, and rural areas. The difference in rates between other urban
areas and rural areas is gradually being phased out, however, and will be eliminat-

ed by 1995.

The PPS provided hospitals with incentives for efficiency that did not exist under
the previous cost-reimbursement system. Following the introduction of the PPS, the

growth rate in inflation-adjusted spending for hospital care per enrollee dropped

rapidly, from an increase of around 4 percent between 1983 and 1984 to less than 1

percent annually between 1985 and 1987. Growth has been somewhat higher since

then—about 1.5 percent annually between 1987 and 1991, after adjusting for infla-

tion.

CBO's projections for the 1993-1998 period indicate that hospital spending will

rise at an average annual rate of nearly 8 percent per enrollee in nominal terms,
and 5 percent per enrollee after adjusting for inflation. This higher growth is ex-

pected, in part, because medicare admissions to hospitals are rising. In addition,

PPS rates were initially set at a level that exceeded hospitals' average costs per

case, partly as a result of an error in the methodology. Consequently, for several

years, updates to the payment levels were held below the level that would have
been justified by increases in hospitals' costs. For the 1993-1998 period, however, in-

creases in payment levels to cover the rise in hospitals' costs are projected.

Medicare's Payment System for Physicians
Based on legislation enacted in 1989, the new Medicare Fee Schedule (MFS) for

physician services was put in place on January 1, 1992. The MFS replaced a pay-
ment system under which medicare's rates were set separately for each physician at

the lowest of the actual charge, the physician's customary charge, or the locally pre-

vailing charge for that service.

The new fee schedule reflects a resource-based relative value scale developed by a

research group at Harvard University in consultation with the Health Care Financ-

ing Administration (HCFA) and the Physician Payment Review Commission (PPRC).
The value of each procedure is ranked relative to all other procedures and is uni-

form for all specialties. The resulting fees, however, vary among 233 payment local-

ities based on a geographic index of medical practice costs.

Overall payment rates under the MFS were 6.5 percent lower in 1992 than they
would otherwise have been, although according to HCFA's estimates, total pay-
m.ents to physicians were to be unchanged as required by the legislation. HCFA's
calculation assumed that an increase in the volume of services would occur as a
result of the MFS, making a reduction in the payment rates necessary to achieve

budget neutrality.
The MFS rates are updated each year based on growth in an index of practice

costs (the Medicare Economic Index). These rates are adjusted up or down depend-
ing on whether growth in the volume of services two years earlier fell below or

above a target rate for growth in expenditures set by medicare's volume perform-
ance standard (VPS). The Congress sets the VPS, based on recommendations from
the Department of Health and Human Services and PPRC. If the Congress fails to

act, the VPS is set by a default formula that reflects payment rates, growth in en-

rollment, and the volume of services per enrollee; adjustments are made to reflect

the effects of any enacted legislation.
Medicare spending for physician services grew at an inflation-adjusted rate of 8

percent per enrollee annually between 1980 and 1985 and 5.6 percent annually be-

tween 1985 and 1991. CBO's projections for the 1993-1998 period suggest that medi-
care's spending for physician services will continue to grow rapidly, by about 11 per-
cent annually per enrollee averaged over that period, in nominal terms, and by
more than 8 percent annually after adjusting for inflation. This higher growth rate
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occurs in part because the 1992 physician expenditures came in under the VPS tar-

gets. As a result, physicians will receive a significant increase in fees in 1994.

THE MEDICAID PROGRAM

Medicaid is the state-administered program that, since 1966, has operated under
Federal guidelines to provide medical care to certain low-income people. Federal
and state governments jointly fund the program with Federal financial participation
rates that currently range from 50 percent to 79 percent, based on a formula that
takes into account the ability of the state to finance the program. The states have
considerable discretion in establishing the criteria on income and assets for program
eligibility; setting the amount, duration, and scope of covered services; and deter-

mining methods for reimbursing providers.

Elibility

Under Federal rules, states are required to provide medicaid coverage for some
groups of the population and may cover additional groups for which they also re-

ceive Federal matching funds. Recipients of Aid to Families with Dependent Chil-

dren (AFDC) are entitled to medicaid benefits, as, in general, are recipients of Sup-
plemental Security Income (SSI). Thus, changes in AFDC or SSI enrollment also

affect the number of medicaid beneficiaries. (In the context of the medicaid pro-

gram, the term "beneficiaries" denotes people who receive services paid for by med-
icaid.) More than 60 percent of medicaid beneficiaries receive cash assistance from
AFDC or SSI and are considered to be "categorically needy."
The remaining 40 percent of medicaid beneficiaries include other low income

people who are aged, blind, disabled, or members of families with dependent chil-

dren, plus other low-income children and pregnant women. Some of these groups
are also considered to be categorically needy. They include potential recipients of

AFDC and SSI, plus pregnant women and children entitled to coverage under the

recently legislated expansions. Others are medically needy; that is, they meet the
nonfinancial criteria for categorical eligibility and become eligible for medicaid

when, after subtracting their incurred medical expenses, their income and resources
fall below limits set by the state. In addition, some elderly and disabled beneficiaries

have partial medicaid protection in the form of assistance that pays for medicare's

premiums and cost sharing.
The proportion of medicaid beneficiaries who do not receive cash grants has

grown as legislation in recent years has loosened the link between medicaid and
cash assistance, especially for low-income children and pregnant women. The most
recent expansion of benefits eventually will cover all children under age 19 in fami-

lies with income below the Federal poverty level. This expansion is being phased in,

with children up to age nine now covered, and will not be fully completed until

2002. States are now also required to pay medicare premiums and cost sharing for

medicare beneficiaries with income below the poverty level and resources less than
twice the asset level for SSI. Further coverage of low-income medicare beneficiaries

is also being phased in. Commencing in January 1993, states must pay SMI premi-
ums for medicare beneficiaries with income less than 110 percent of the poverty
level and resources less than twice the SSI asset level; the income criterion for eligi-

bility will be raised to 120 percent of the poverty level in 1995.

Benefits

The Federal Government mandates some benefits under medicaid, with states

having the option to cover other specified services. Mandatory benefits for the cate-

gorically needy include hospital services; physician services; laboratory and X-ray
services; family planning services; nursing facility (NF) services for people over age
21; home health care for people entitled to NF services; Early and Periodic Screen-

ing, Diagnosis, and Treatment (EPSDT) program services for people under 21 years
old; services provided by rural health clinics and federally qualified health centers;
and the services of nurse midwives, certified pediatric nurse practitioners, and certi-

fied family nurse practitioners (in states in whiqh those providers are authorized to

practice).

Mandatory services for the medically needy population are less comprehensive
than the benefits that must be provided to the categorically needy. At a minimum,
however, states with programs for the medically needy must provide ambulatory
care for children and prenatal and delivery services for pregnant women.

States may, at their option, provide additional services. In October 1991, most
states chose to offer at least the following services to categorically needy people: po-

diatry; optometry; clinic services; dental services; physical therapy; services for

people with speech, hearing, and language disorders; transportation; intermediate
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care facility services for the mentally retarded (ICF-MR); nursing facility services

for people under 21 years old; rehabilitative services; prescription drugs; inpatient

hospital services for elderly people in mental institutions; emergency hospital serv-

ices; case management; prosthetic devices; and eyeglasses. Some states offered sever-

al additional services. Thus, in most states, medicaid provides comprehensive cover-

age that exceeds many private health insurance packages, with no requirements (or

minimal requirements) for cost sharing on the part of beneficiaries.

Medicaid and Poverty

Despite the increasing number of people eligible for the medicaid program, only
about half of the population with income at or below the poverty level was covered

by medicaid in 1991. Some of those who are living in poverty have private insurance

through employment or another source. Many, however, are not eligible for medic-

aid and are uninsured. If all uninsured people below the poverty level had been eli-

gible in 1991, about 10 million more people would have been covered by medicaid.

Expanding medicaid eligibility to include all children under age 19 in families with

income below the Federal poverty level by 2002 will lower the number of uninsured

poor people, but a substantial number of uninsured low-income adults will remain

ineligible for medicaid.

Medicaid Spending
Medicaid expenditures have grown dramatically in recent years, reaching $119

billion in 1992. Federal spending made up 57 percent of this amount, with state and
local spending accounting for the balance. Total medicaid spending includes both

payments for services provided directly to beneficiaries and other costs. Payments
for services provided to medicaid beneficiaries were about 90 percent of total medic-

aid spending throughout most of the 1980's. By 1991, however, payments for services

had dropped to 83 percent of total spending, reflecting in part changes in the financ-

ing of the program that are discussed below.
After adjusting for inflation, the average annual rate of growth in total medicaid

spending from 1980 to 1989 was about 5 percent a year. From 1989 through 1991,

however, real growth averaged almost 17 percent and rose a further 25 percent in

1992.

That unprecedented growth stemmed mainly from three factors. First, enrollment
rose rapidly, largely because of the weak economy, legislation expanding eligibility

for the medicaid program, and subsequent efforts by states to enroll low-income

pregnant women and infants. Second, medical prices increased significantly in 1990

and 1991. Third, in 1991 and 1992, states dramatically expanded their use of financ-

ing mechanisms that enabled them to boost the Federal Government's matching
payments.
Spending by Eligibility Group.—In 1991, there were 28 million medicaid benefici-

aries—19.5 million children and adults in low-income families, 3.3 million people 65

years of age and older, 4 million disabled people, and about 1 million others. Thus,
more than two-thirds of medicaid beneficiaries are low-income children and adults

(see Table 2).

Spending under medicaid for services provided directly to beneficiaries, however,

goes disproportionately to the aged and disabled populations. Although these groups
represented only 30 percent of the medicaid population, they accounted for 70 per-
cent of total payments in 1991. Average medicaid payments for aged beneficiaries

were $7,600; for disabled beneficiaries, payments were $7,000. In contrast, low-

income children and adults incurred average costs of $900 and $1,600, respectively.
One reason that medicaid spending is so high for aged and disabled beneficiaries

is that medicaid, unlike medicare, pays for long-term care. The average payment
per user of ICF-MR nursing home services in 1991 was $52,600; for medicaid benefi-

ciaries who used other nursing home services, the average payment was lower but
was still $13,800 in that year. Moreover, those amounts do not include the other
services used by nursing home residents for which medicaid paid. Nearly 40 percent
of medicaid payments in 1991 were for nursing home services.

Voluntary Donations and Taxes on Health Care Providers.—Faced with burgeon-
ing medicaid costs and pressures to mcrease their reimbursement rates, states

turned increasingly to voluntary donations and taxes on health care providers (pri-

marily hospitals and nursing homes) to finance their share of medicaid expendi-
tures. Through the use of these devices, states could generate additional Federal

matching dollars without corresponding expenditures of state funds, thereby raising
the overall Federal matching rate from its nominal level of 57 percent. By July
1991, the majority of states had adopted donation or provider-specific tax programs,
and the Department of Health and Human Services was concerned that these initia-

tives were threatening the financial stability of medicaid.
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The Inspector General estimated that provider donation and tax programs would
cost the Federal Government almost $3.8 billion in fiscal year 1991, and that the

figure could rise to $12.1 billion in fiscal year 1993. In October 1991, therefore,
HCFA issued interim final regulations to restrict Federal matching for state medic-
aid expenditures financed through voluntary donations or taxes on health care pro-
viders.

By effectively eliminating provider donation and tax programs, the HCFA regula-
tions would probably have compounded the severe fiscal problems many states

faced. In November 1991, therefore, the Congress enacted legislation to nullify the
HCFA regulations and also to place some restrictions on the use of provider dona-
tions and taxes. The act, titled the Medicaid Voluntary Contribution and Provider-

Specific Tax Amendments of 1991, represents a compromise by the administration,
the Congress, and the states. It bars Federal matching for most provider donations
but allows the states to use intergovernmental transfers and some types of tax reve-

nues from providers to finance part of their share of the medicaid program.
Payments to Disproportionate Share Hospitals.—The act also has important impli-

cations for medicaid's reimbursement of disproportionate share hospitals, those in-

stitutions that serve disproportionately large numbers of low-income patients with

special needs. When setting medicaid hospital payment rates, states are required to

take the costs incurred by disproportionate share hospitals into account. The Con-

gress has established minimum criteria for defining these hospitals and for deter-

mining the rates at which they must be paid.
States may, however, use alternative methods to define disproportionate share

hospitals and to set the additional payment amounts they receive, provided the total

payment adjustment is at least as great as under the statutory options. Some states

have taken advantage of this flexibility to increase their payments to disproportion-
ate share hospitals dramatically in the last two years. Furthermore, they have fre-

quently used voluntary donations and taxes on health care providers to pay all or

part of their share. HCFA issued regulations limiting such payments in October

1991, but the Congress also nullified those regulations.
Instead, the November 1991 legislation creates a national cap on payment adjust-

ments to disproportionate share hospitals of 12 percent of medicaid expenditures.
States whose disproportionate share payments are already above this cap can con-

tinue to make payments at the higher level but cannot increase them until they fall

below the 12 percent cap. As national medicaid expenditures rise, states that are
below the 12 percent cap will be allowed to increase their disproportionate share

payments using a redistributive approach that ensures that the national cap re-

mains at 12 percent. In addition, the act bars HCFA from restricting a state's au-

thority to designate disproportionate share hospitals. In November 1992, HCFA pub-
lished an interim final rule carrying out the 1991 legislation. According to that rule,
all disproportionate share allotments to states for fiscal year 1993 would be frozen

at their 1992 amounts because total disproportionate share payments were already
at the 12 percent level.

Projections of Medicaid Spending.—CBO estimates that medicaid spending will

grow by about 18 percent in 1993, to more than $140 billion, of which the Federal
Government will pay about $80 billion. This estimate represents an annual increase

of 15 percent after adjusting for inflation. The annual rate of growth will be some-
what lower between 1993 and 1998, averaging about 13 percent in nominal terms or

about 10 percent after adjusting for inflation.

Growth in medicaid spending over the next five years will primarily be the result

of increased spending per beneficiary rather than the larger number of people who
are eligible for medicaid. CBO projects that, on average, the number of beneficiaries

will grow by 2 percent to 3 percent a year between 1993 and 1998. Total spending
per beneficiary, which includes payments for services, costs of administration, and
other non-service-related spending, however, is projected to increase at an average
annual rate of almost 10 percent in nominal terms, or 7 percent after adjusting for

inflation.

The factors contributing to such rapid growth include increases in medical care

prices that exceed general inflation and changes in the number and complexity of

services provided to the medicaid population. In addition, as a result of recent and

pending judicial decisions interpreting medicaid statutes, states are facing growing
pressures to increase reimbursement rates for institutional providers and physi-
cians.
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FEDERAL AND OVERALL SPENDING FOR HEALTH CARE

Private spending and payments by public programs for health care are interde-

pendent, since policies designed to constrain costs bj one payer often have profound

implications for the level and rate of growth of spending by other payers. Without
concurrent and uniform policies that affect the entire health sector, whatever is

done to control Federal spending for health care would almost certainly result in

higher spending by private payers. Moreover, if enacted in isolation, policies to

extend coverage to the uninsured would increase health spending, most likely both

at the national level and within the Federal budget.
In 1991, national health expenditures were $752 billion, accounting for more than

13 percent of the gross domestic product (GDP). CBO's revised winter 1993 projec-
tions of national health expenditures indicate that, by 2000, the United States will

spend nearly 19 percent of GDP on health care under current policies. The Federal

Government's share of spending is projected to rise from about 30 percent in 1991 to

36 percent in 2000.

In addition to its direct spending for health care, the Federal Government also

provides a substantial subsidy for private employment-based health insurance be-

cause payments by employers are excluded from employees' income that is subject
to Federal taxation. Both income and payroll taxes are lower because of this exclu-

sion—by a total of $70 billion in 1991—although higher payroll taxes would be offset

by higher social security payments in future years.
Even though there have been numerous and intensive efforts over the past two

decades to control the growth in health expenditures, inflation adjusted spending
per person in the Nation has continued to rise. Between 1980 and 1985, spending
per person in the Nation increased at an average annual rate of 4.2 percent; be-

tween 1985 and 1991, this rate increased to 4.8 percent annually, as shown in Figure
2.

The trends for medicaid and medicare spending per person are different from the

trend in total health spending. After adjusting for inflation, total medicaid expendi-
tures per beneficiary grew at an annual rate of about 4 percent between 1980 and
1985, which was somewhat lower than the rate of growth of national health expend-
itures per person. Between 1985 and 1991, however, medicaid expenditures per bene-

ficiary grew at an average annual inflation-adjusted rate of almost 7 percent. This

growth primarily reflected the large 1991 increase in program costs that were not

related to the direct provision of services.

Over most of the years that medicare has been operating, spending per enrollee

grew more rapidly, after adjusting for inflation, than did spending per person in the

Nation. Between 1980 and 1985, inflation-adjusted spending per enrollee grew about
6.1 percent a year, considerably higher than the 4.2 percent annual increase in per

capita national spending. The medicare per enrollee growth rate dropped signifi-

cantly over the 1985-1991 period to slightly more than 3 percent annually—which is

considerably lower than the rate for per capita national health expenditures. Most
of the decline in the growth per enrollee of medicare spending stemmed from a sub-

stantial drop in the rate of increase in medicare's spending for inpatient hospital
services (see Figure 3).

This pattern illustrates a major factor in this country's inability to gain better

control over total health spending. In a multiple-payer system, successful efforts by
one payer to reduce the growth in costs—such as medicare's prospective payment
system for hospitals in the mid-1980's—appear to be offset by more rapid increases

in costs for other payers.

Preliminary results from a CBO study that is under way depict these interrela-

tionships vividly. In 1990, hospitals provided $12 billion in uncompensated care and
received payments that were only 80 percent of estimated costs for medicaid enroU-
ees and 90 percent of estimated costs for medicare enrollees (see Table 3). Uncom-
pensated care and unreimbursed public program costs totaled $25 billion, or 12 per-
cent of hospitals' total costs.

Most hospitals, however, were able to recover the bulk of these unreimbursed
costs through three mechanisms: subsidies from state and local governments, other

nonpatient-care sources of revenues, and surplus revenues (or profits) from private
payers. In fact, CBO estimates that in 1989 hospitals recovered about 95 percent of

their uncompensated care and unreimbursed public program costs. Surplus reve-

nues from private payers accounted for more than 50 percent of this recovery.
In 1990, the ratio of revenues to costs for private payers was 1.28—in other words,

the payments to hospitals from private payers exceeded the costs of treating those

patients by about 28 percent. Moreover, private payers were charged substantially

64-972 0-93-2
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more than their costs in spite of the many efforts of private payers to control hospi-
tal spending over the same period.

CONCLUSION

Health care costs are increasing far more rapidly than inflation and show no

signs of abating despite the many attempts to control costs made by both public and

private payers. CBO projects that, by 1998, more than 17 percent of GDP will be
absorbed by spending on health and nearly 24 percent of the Federal budget will be

spent on health programs under current policies. Without a reduction in the rate of

growth in health care spending, cutting the Federal budget deficit will be extremely
difficult.

Other consequences of the continued rise in health spending are also of concern.

Not only would more people be uninsured, but new policies to extend coverage to

the uninsured would increase health expenditures even more. In addition, further

growth in health insurance premiums would mean that workers would receive

smaller increases in wages and salaries as more of their compensation came in the

form of health insurance.

Addressing the problems of the Nation's health care system is a formidable task.

If we control only Federal spending, then spending by the private sector will almost

certainly increase more rapidly. But greater control over total health spending
would probably mean less spending on research and development, longer waiting
times for use of some technologies, and some limits on existing choices of providers,
health care coverage, and alternatives for treatment. Finally, unless efforts to

reduce health spending were combined with new policies to cover the uninsured,
success in controlling health care costs would almost certainly create additional bar-

riers to access for the uninsured.
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TABLE 2. MEDICAID BENEFICIARIES AND PAYMENTS ADJUSTED
FOR INFLATION, BY ELIGIBILITY GROUP, SELECTED
FISCAL YEARS^

Eligibility Group 1975 1981 1988 1990 1991

All" ^
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TABLE 3. HOSPITAL REVENUES AND COSTS, BY PAYER OR OTHER SOURCE, 1990

Revenues

Payer or

Other Source

Costs

In

Billions

of £>ollars

As a Per-

centage

of Total

In

Billions

of Dollars

As a Per-

centage
of Total

Ratio

of Revenues

to Costs

Total
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Figure 1.

Average Annual Growth Rates of Real Federal Outlays, Selected

Components, 1970-1998

Percent

1970-1980 1980-1993

^ Total [_J Health

I I

Social Security
| |

Etefense

1993-1998

Net Interest

^ Other

SOURCE: Congressional Budget OfTice calculations, January 1993, tiased on actual outlays in 1970 and

1980 and projections of federal outlays for 1993 through 1998.

NOTBS: The word "Veal" is used here to mean adjusted for general inflation rather than for inflation in

the prices of health services, which is almost certainly different. Outlays are adjusted to 1991

dollars using the consumer price Index for all urban consumers (CPl -U).

Years are fiscal years.

Health care outlays exclude those in the Department of Defense.

The "Other" category includes, for example, spending for food stamps, federal deposit

insurance, education, transportation, and housing.

The estimate of defense spending for 1998 is based on the Bush Administration's proposal
of January 1992.
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Figure 2.

Average Annual Growth Rates of Real National, Medicaid, and Medicare

Expenditures for Health, Total and Per Person, 1961 - 1991

National Medicaid I: :'x-x :':-l Medicare

Total Expenditures

25
Pcrcoil

10

1975 -1»80 1980-1985

IIJ

1985-1991

Per-Person Expenditures

25
Perccni

20 -

15

10

1975-1980 1980-1985 1985-1991

SOURCE: Congressional Budget Office calculations based on dau from the Health Care Financing

Administration (HFCA), OfTice of the Actuary, 1992. The number of Medicaid beneficiaries is

based on HCFA Form -2082.

NOTES: TTie word "real" is used here to mean adjusted for general inflation rather than for inflation in

the prices of health services, which is almost certainly different. Health expenditures are

adjusted to 1991 dollars using the consumer price index for all urban consumers (CPI-U).

Growth rates are not available for total and per^nrollee Medicare expenditures during the

1961-1970 period as the Medicare program was not enacted until the mid-1960s.
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Figure 3.

Average Annual Growth Rates of Real National and Medicare Expenditures
for Hospital and Physician Services, Total and Per Person, 1961 - 1991

National Medicare
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Chairman Sabo. Thank you, Dr. Reischauer.
Let me just focus on medicare and see if I understand the num-

bers right. The number of enrollees is projected to increase by 2

percent.
Dr. Reischauer. About 2 percent a year, right.
Chairman Sabo. And the projections are that over the next 5

years or 4 years, the costs of the hospital program will grow at the
rate of inflation plus 5 percent. Two percent of that 5 percent, can
we assume, is the increased enrollees?

Dr. Reischauer. Various factors are at work here. One is the

growth in the number of enrollees, which
Chairman Sabo. Okay, but I am just curious. Can I subtract the

2 percent from the 5 or not? You have the cost, let's assume
normal inflation, and enrollees growing at 2 percent.

Dr. Reischauer. If we are talking about the real increase in cost,

yes.
Chairman Sabo. So the 5 percent is in addition to inflation and

the 2 percent enrollee growth. Okay.
Hospitals are growing at 5 percent, physicians at 10 percent, out-

patient at 14 percent, if I read your numbers correctly. In all the

analysis I see, we get these gross numbers. I am curious. Where
that additional growth, let's start with hospitals, occurs, because
we do the DRG adjustment of rates, how much is that adjusted nor-

mally? Is that at the rate of inflation? If it is at the rate of infla-

tion, we have 2

Dr. Reischauer. It is an increase that is based on a medical
market basket index that is calculated, I believe, by the Health
Care Financing Administration every year.
Chairman Sabo. So that adjustment may be higher than the

normal rate of inflation for everyone else?
Dr. Reischauer. Or lower. It can be adjusted up or down.
Chairman Sabo. Has it ever been lower?
Dr. Reischauer. It includes a series of inputs that hospitals buy

to produce their services and looks at what has been happening to
the cost of those inputs.
Chairman Sabo. How accurate is that market basket?
Dr. Reischauer. Well, that is a little hard to tell.

Chairman Sabo. Have we had any analysis of that market
basket, if it varies from the normal CPI? You know, I assume their
costs of energy are roughly the same as everyone else. Their per-
sonnel costs are probably relatively the same. What is unique
about that market basket? Do we have any analysis of that?

Dr. Reischauer. The weights of the components in it, which
would be labor costs, energy costs, whatever goes into the produc-
tion of hospital services. It isn't the labor of the doctor.
Chairman Sabo. Let's assume it is accurate. We have the DRG

system in place that has in place some regulation of that adjust-
ment. Enrollment is growing at 2 percent. Are hospital admissions
growing faster than 2 percent?

Dr. Reischauer. The rate of hospital admissions for medicare pa-
tients actually fell during most of the 1980's. After 1984, in particu-
lar, when the new system went into effect, we had a rather sharp
decline in admission rates per 100,000 enrollees. That seems to
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have come to an end, and now we are seeing an upturn in admis-
sions.

Chairman Sabo. Faster than the 2 percent change in the number
of enroUees?

Dr. Reischauer. No. I am estimating from the number of enroU-
ees because this is admissions per 10,000 enrollees. So you have to

multiply the two by each other to find out the total number of ad-

missions.
But the increase in admissions shouldn't really be a problem be-

cause we have a hospital industry with very substantial excess ca-

pacity. The occupancy rate of hospitals is somewhere between 60

percent and 70 percent. There is no other industry that could oper-
ate year in and year out with that kind of capacity utilization with-
out going bankrupt.
Chairman Sabo. I have this problem. I still don't understand how

we end up with this 5 percent growth if we are regulating the re-

imbursement through the DRG system and we are not having in-

creased caseload.

Dr. Reischauer. You are getting more people; you are getting an
increase in the price per DRG; you are getting increased
Chairman Sabo. Let me ask this question
Dr. Reischauer. [continuing] complexity of diagnosis. There is

some gradual creep in DRG coding.
Chairman Sabo. Let me ask this question: What has been the av-

erage increase in the various DRG categories from year to year?
How many are there? Are there 450, 500, something like that?

Dr. Reischauer. I don't have with me the exact increases.

Chairman Sabo. I think it would be useful for the committee to

get a sampling, just so we have for our information, what has hap-
pened to the DRG adjustments from year to year. We always have
the description that they are adjusted by some X percent, and I

have never seen them in numbers.
Dr. Reischauer. There is a procedure for determining how much

they should be increased by, but the Congress or the President
sometimes steps in and says
Chairman Sabo. Could we just have-
Dr. Reischauer. [continuing] we are not going to adjust them

this year.
Chairman Sabo. [continuing] what in reality they have been?
Dr. Reischauer. We will provide that for information the record.

Chairman Sabo. When did we start, 7 or 8 years ago?
Dr. Reischauer. We started in 1984, and there was a period

during which reimbursements were partially determined by the
new system and partially determined by the old system as we
phased in the new system. That lasted for a number of years.
Chairman Sabo. I think it would be useful for us to know what it

is about this market basket that we use for adjustments that is dif-

ferent than the normal CPI adjustment, and then in reality what
has happened with various DRG reimbursements.

Dr. Reischauer. We will be glad to provide that.

[The information follows:]

Reimbursements by DRG are determined by (1) multiplying the applicable DRG
weight for the discharge diagnosis and the applicable standardized amount (large
urban, other urban, or rural), and (2) adding to that amount adjustments to account
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for the costs of disproportionate share hospital (DSH) payments and indirect medi-

cal education (IME). These latter amounts are calculated as a percentage of the base

amount determined in (1). Therefore.assuming DSH and IME law remains un-

changed, increases in payments for particular DRGs are determined by the annual

increases in standardized amounts from the update factor. Under current law, the

update factor is based on the increase in a hospital market basket index, but the

Congress has from time to time overridden the automatic update. The average in-

crease in the update factor since 1984 has been 2.9 percent through fiscal year 1993.

Over the same period, the average increase in the market basket index has been 4.6

percent, and the average increase in the CPI-U has been 3.8 percent.

However, the average payment per discharge reflects changes in average DRGs
reimbursed as well as changes in the standardized amounts due to the update
factor. Thus, the increase in the update factor is, by itself, not indicative of the in-

crease in total PPS payments per discharge, which has averaged 7.0 percent per

year during the same period. The growth in the average payment is high because

HCFA overestimated the budget-neutral standardized amount that should have
been paid in the initial year of the PPS (payments per case grew by 18.5 percent in

the first year) and because use of the more complex and more costly DRGs has

grown relative to use of lower priced DRGs since then.

There were 468 DRG categories in the first year of the PPS; now there are 487

valid DRG categories.
All of the above data are based on PROPAC reports.
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Chairman Sabo. Physicians are going up 10 percent, outpatient
14 percent. Again, with physicians, are the medicare recipients

going to the doctor more often?

Dr. Reischauer. I think that is the case; the complexity of their

treatment also is rising.
Chairman Sabo. Let me ask the question this way: In the physi-

cian's reimbursement, that, I assume, includes both the physician's

charge and charges for other costs they are incurring there, like

lab tests, x-rays, whatever is done. Is that accurate?
Dr. Reischauer. Lab tests are done through a separate reim-

bursement. What you are paying for is an intermediate office visit

or a long office visit for a particular diagnosis.
Chairman Sabo. What I am trying to get at is: Why is it going up

10 percent? Is it because the elderly are going to doctors more fre-

quently? Is it because the price per-visit is being raised more than
inflation? What internally drives that category?

Dr. Reischauer. The answer is all of the above.

Mr. Smith of Michigan. Excuse me. Could I interrupt? Could

you give us a breakdown as to how much of an increase is due to

those three factors?

Chairman Sabo. That is what I am trying to get at. I always get
these gross numbers, and I look at them, and they mean nothing to

me for us to really understand what is driving the system. And the

same with outpatient services. We are going to hear from GAO this

afternoon, who I think have real concerns about our reimburse-
ments there, whether they are accurate, and which is the fastest

growing part of the whole system.
I think it would be useful if there is analysis which shows a

breakdown of what happens with those reimbursements. I think it

would be useful, again, to have a historical perspective of adjust-
ments in reimbursements that we give to doctors in dollar terms
that we can understand.

Dr. Reischauer. We have some information like that, though not

for the medicare program, which is what you are asking for. We
will do our best to get it.

Chairman Sabo. Yes. I am interested
Dr. Reischauer. We have it for national health expenditures as

a whole, and this will give you a flavor of what CBO could do. Phy-
sician services nationally grew at 10.4 percent a year between 1990
and 1992. Our estimate is that one percentage point of this growth
was due to the increase in the population per year. Two-tenths of a

percentage point was because the population aged and had charac-
teristics that required more health care, which pushed up costs.

Eight-tenths of a percentage point was attributable to increased
use per person. In other words, the average person went to the
doctor more frequently, or something of that sort. Next, 3.3 per-

centage points were due to the general rate of inflation in the

country. All the rest—4.8 percentage points—is the great unknown,
and this was attributable to both excess inflation in the medical
sector and what we call intensity of use, which is that for a par-
ticular diagnosis more procedures are being laid on. So close to half
of the increase is in this other category.
Chairman Sabo. Well, to the degree we could have a better sub-

analysis of these various cost figures, it would be helpful.
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[The information follows:]

Medicare spending on physician services grows about 12.7 percent per year in the

Congressional Budget Office's most recent baseline projections. The number of en-

roUees grows about 1.5 percent a year. The annual average growth in the consumer
price index is 2.7 percent. So growth in enrollees and growth in general inflation

explains only about 4.2 percent, or one-third, of the total growth. Of the remaining
growth, most is attributable to more tests and procedures being done per visit and
to an increase in medical charges over and above the general inflation rate.

Chairman Sabo. I have used more than my time. Mr. Kasich?
Mr. Kasich. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me just pick up on one line of questioning that the chairman

touched on. Doctor, wouldn't you admit that there is no market-
driven way in which we set the reimbursement levels for medicare
and medicaid?

I was having a conversation with Dr. Wilensky about an idea
that I developed out in my district with some folks that we should
bid out the procedures of medicare and medicaid. How you group
them together, how precisely you do it, I am not real sure on that

yet. It is going to take some analysis. But we should, in fact, bid

those procedures out, and then the marketplace would set the rate.

If you had five hospitals competing to do heart surgery, for ex-

ample, in Columbia, Ohio, we have 7 or 8 hospitals, and if you bid

out the heart procedures and any attendant procedures you would
have a different environment than what you have right now. Right
now, there are some bureaucrats sitting in Washington looking at a
fictitious market basket of commodities to decide what the reim-
bursement level ought to be?

This is not based on the marketplace setting the price. Isn't that
correct?

Dr. Reischauer. You are correct. It is not a market in the
normal sense. But I am not sure that your proposal would be as
different as you might think at first glance, because you put the
bid out, and the various hospitals come back with different prices.
Then you have to determine that are they all providing the same
quality of service. How much in the way of creature comforts are
we going to allow? Because we have to remember that hospitals in

America are not only medical facilities, but they are also part
Ramada Inn. They provide all sorts of other services.

Mr. Kasich. But if you just assume a minimum standard of qual-

ity for all hospitals, you get into a bidding procedure. For example,
we have bid out in Ohio the prison population. The hospitals in

Ohio bid for the right to service the prisoners. Isn't it amazing that

Ohio is saving money because one hospital decided they wanted
that business so they had to sharpen their pencil? They are charg-

ing less—I mean, the State of Ohio is saving money as a result of a

competitive environment.
Dr. Reischauer. That is the notion behind managed competition.
Mr. Kasich. That is correct.

Dr. Reischauer. I think managed competition moves in that di-

rection without going all the way. What you are implying, I think,
is that the low bidder gets all the business, whereas a managed
competition proposal says that the low bidder's price is the maxi-
mum that will be subsidized through the tax system. And if you
want to go to a hospital that costs more, you have to pay it
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Mr. Kasich. Out of your own pocket.
Dr. Reischauer. [continuing] out of after-tax dollars.

Mr. Kasich. Right. But that is a savings to the Government
under that circumstance.

Dr. Reischauer. Correct.

Mr. Kasich. And, furthermore, the rates that we are setting

right now for medicare and medicaid are from some bureaucrat

trying to figure out the right level. It is not based on any market.

Dr. Reischauer. The medicaid rates are set at the State level,

and the medicare rates, as you say, are set in Washington.
Mr. Kasich. Correct. So it may be
Dr. Reischauer. But both medicare and medicaid, at least for

hospital services, pay considerably less than the full cost of provid-

ing those services. So it is hard to argue that

Mr. Kasich. I don't disagree with that.

Dr. Reischauer. [continuing] there is inefficiency there. Now, we
have
Mr. Kasich. But that begs the question of feeding the inefficien-

cies of the health care system. See, in other words, if all of a

sudden you put hospitals, including their physicians, specialists,

and administration and legal costs, into a competitive environment
where they are actually bidding against each other, suddenly, in-

stead of having 30 specialists on staff, which they don't need, they
now have 15 specialists on staff, which they feel they do need. And
they are able to deliver the same quality of service to the patients

by becoming more efficient. Correct? And that is the idea behind

managed care. It is to put the hospital universes into a competitive
environment so that Hospital A competes against Hospital B, both
on the basis of quality and costs.

I met with a gentlemen from the Schoteenstein Stores. They are

a discount operation, and they have all their employees in a man-

aged care system. I had the guy come to my office to talk to me
about how it works, and he said, "Well, some of our employees are

complaining about some of the quality?" I said, "Well, let me ask

you, when you called the president of the company and told him
you were thinking about getting another managed care system,
what was his reaction?" He said, "He can't get to my office fast

enough to figure out how to iron out the problems because they
don't want to lose our business." And I said, "What has happened
with your costs?" He said, "They have been restrained."

So if we were to enter into a true competitive environment,
wouldn't that in and of itself bring greater efficiencies to health

care and thus allow us to gain some control on this reimbursement
rate for medicaid and medicare?

Dr. Reischauer. I doubt in the intermediate run whether medi-
care and medicaid reimbursement rates would go down very much.
But I think overall health care spending could be significantly af-

fected. But we are talking about some very difficult issues here.

To get those efficiencies, you would have to wring the excess ca-

pacity that now exists out of the hospital system, number one.

Mr. Kasich. Right.
Dr. Reischauer. You would have to shift the resources that we

have more towards the allocation that exists in the rest of the

world.
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Mr. Kasich. Right.
Dr. Reischauer. Roughly 65 or 70 percent of American doctors

are specialists rather than general practitioners. The reverse is

true in most other countries, suggesting that we have far too many
specialists, who would have to retrain and become general practi-
tioners.

Mr. Kasich. But, you see, here is the bottom line on that. I hear
all this talk about these global caps. Global caps are nothing more
than price controls, wage and price controls. They were brought to

us by Richard Nixon. They failed. There was a Republican that
came up with a lame-brain idea, and it didn't work. Okay? To be

bipartisan.

Wage and price controls don't work. But what we are talking
about under this system is a competitive system that would allow
us to reduce the number of specialists. But it doesn't take away
from the quality of care that patients receive. Hospitals may not
need 30 specialists in order to do the job. They may only need 15

specialists.
But let me just pursue a question under this area of the global

budgeting, because I know there is an argument that we can't

score things properly unless we somehow have a global budget. If

we were to come up with a program to severely limit litigation and
the defensive medicine practices—and Mr. McMillan has been a
leader in this area—would we not, by restricting the amount of

malpractice that a physician would have to get, in effect, be able to

reduce the medicare reimbursement levels at a somewhat commen-
surate rate as the liability that we are reducing?

In other words, a doctor wouldn't have to buy as much malprac-
tice, wouldn't have to have as many tests, so, therefore, we could
reduce the medicare reimbursement rate commensurate with the

type of action we take to eliminate defensive medicine.
Dr. Reischauer. Medical malpractice premiums are really a

small amount. They amount to something less than 1 percent of

national health expenditures.
Mr. Kasich. But if we add the defensive medicine and everything

else

Dr. Reischauer. Then the question is how much could you save

by reducing defensive medicine. I think there is a good deal of con-

troversy about that. There is a recent Lewin study that I believe

estimates excessive tests at around $25 billion a year. Others say
that would be too high. So I don't think we really know. It is not a
silver bullet that is going to solve this problem entirely.
Mr. Kasich. I didn't suggest that.

Dr. Reischauer. Certainly it is an area in which some reform
would point us in the right direction.

Mr. Kasich. But it would be possible to score savings from a liti-

gation-relief proposal that could be generated, for example, by Re-

publicans? We could say that we are going to do X, Y, and Z to

affect the practice of defensive medicine, and, therefore, we think
we can realize this amount of savings. That would be proper,
wouldn't it, and scorable?

Dr. Reischauer. If there were a clear mechanism that we saw
resulting in lower medicare or medicaid reimbursement rates. But,
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as I said before, medicare and medicaid are reimbursing below
costs now
Mr. Kasich. No, we don't know that they are reimbursing—I

mean, in the environment in which we presently live, they may be.

Dr. Reischauer. At the hospital level they are. There is a ques-
tion of how you measure this with respect to physician services,
which is where this would be most important.

Let me say one thing. If you say there will be expenditure caps,
CBO does not naively go out and assume they are going to be effec-

tive and score savings associated with that. We require that the

legislation include various aspects to enforce those caps—to bring
those caps down to the hospital level or to the doctor's office

level—to get any scoring for them.
On the other hand, with respect to managed competition propos-

als, it is not true that we don't suggest that savings, sometimes
substantial savings, could be generated by those types of reform.
Mr. Kasich. I don't want to belabor this. There are many mem-

bers with other questions. But if we were to have super managed
care systems, as the gentleman from Tennessee has suggested—and
I applaud him for his efforts—and combine that with managed care
of medicare and medicaid, would that not create a more highly
competitive system that would work to cut the number of special-
ists, the over-supply of equipment? Wouldn't that force these hospi-
tal universes to become a lot more concerned about their costs?
Wouldn't that put them in a position of where they would, being
more competitive against one another, figure out a way to do busi-
ness more efficiently while still keeping in mind quality?

Dr. Reischauer. Managed competition?
Mr. Kasich. Yes.
Dr. Reischauer. You said managed care twice.
Mr. Kasich. Managed competition.
Dr. Reischauer. Managed competition with some clear incen-

tives to the buyer of the insurance through a change in the way we
allow pre-tax income to be diverted to health care needs would
have a substantial impact, yes. I agree with you.
Mr. Kasich. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Sabo. Mr. Kildee.
Mr. Kildee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Doctor, medicare reimburses at less than cost. That gap, then,

must be made up elsewhere by private insurance companies and in-

dustries like the auto industry that provide health care for its

workers and its retirees. Now, we know that the price of a car is

greater by $600 to $800 because of the health care costs.

What percentage of cost does medicaid reimburse a hospital, and
what percentage of cost would, say, the auto industry reimburse a
hospital?

Dr. Reischauer. I don't know the figures for the auto industry.
The estimates for medicaid nationwide are that it reimburses at
about 80 percent of hospitals' costs; private insurers, on average,
reimburse at about 128 percent. So they are paying 28 percent
more than full costs. Medicaid is paying 20 percent less. Some of
that is made up through other kinds of payments from State and
local governments to hospitals. Not all of it is picked up by
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Mr. KiLDEE. Let's take kind of a closed situation in Genesee
County, Michigan, where General Motors was established, where
David Buick and Louis Chevrolet lived. We have medicaid patients
at three, four hospitals there. One hospital takes more of the med-
icaid patients than others.

Now, if medicaid is reimbursing the hospital at 80 percent, then

they do have to get the money elsewhere. Probably the greatest
other provider in Genesee County is really the auto industry. So
the auto industry then must be paying maybe 120 percent of costs,

then, right, to take care of the deficiency in the medicaid payment?
Dr. Reischauer. Possibly. That would be a perfectly plausible set

of numbers.
Let me go back to something you said before because I think

there is a widespread misunderstanding in America about how
health care costs feed into final prices of products. Most economists
would argue that employer-provided health care benefits, in fact,

are not provided by the benevolent employer, but are provided out
of the worker's hide in the form of lower cash wages. The employer
decides how many people to hire based on total compensation costs:

wages and salaries, the unemployment insurance tax, the FICA
tax, the vacation benefits, the health care benefits, and other bene-
fits that he has to provide.
The actual distribution of total compensation between wages and

salaries on the one hand and benefits on the other is not of particu-
lar concern to the employer. All he cares about is that bottom line.

He is really shifting the cost of health insurance onto the em-

ployee over the long run. So the cost of the car doesn't go up be-

cause of health care insurance. The cash wages received by the
auto workers go down. And what we have seen over the last decade
or so is that roughly half of the increase in total compensation has

gone into these benefit costs.

So we ask ourselves, why are cash incomes going up so slowly in

America, particularly for factory workers? The answer in large
measure is that much of the compensation that they should or

could have received in cash form has been transformed into added
benefits.

Mr. KiLDEE. I think where you may be wrong. Doctor, is that the
costs of other areas are more controllable. The cost of what the
worker has to pay for groceries and housing is more controllable.

The really uncontrollable area right now is health care.

Now, you talk to the Big Three, and they are deeply concerned
about health care costs.

Dr. Reischauer. They have a particular problem, which has to

do with retiree benefits.

Mr. KiLDEE. Exactly.
Dr. Reischauer. And that really does come out of their hide.

They have no way of shifting that onto current workers because
current workers, obviously, would leave and work for a company
that had fewer retirees.

Mr. KiLDEE. You know, the transplants, the Japanese trans-

plants, for example, they have generally a younger, healthier work
force with no retirees yet.

Dr. Reischauer. Any new firm, whether it is a foreign trans-

plant or a domestic enterprise, starts off with no retiree benefits
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and, therefore, is at a competitive advantage in the short run. And
the short run might last 20 or 30 years, so for all practical purposes
it is a lifetime.

Mr. KiLDEE. I think there is no question. I talk to my hospitals
there in Flint, and they know that they have to stick it to the auto

industry because they don't get reimbursed enough through medic-
aid and they have to transfer it over to the auto industry, which
does, no question, add to the cost of the car. You know, my Dad
joined the UAW back in 1935, and I know that when they negoti-
ate, there is so much money on the table, except the other areas

they get reimbursed for are much more controllable than the
health care area. And I think that is where you should look into
that part.

Dr. Reischauer. But if you are a benefit manager
Chairman Sabo. Why don't we hold that? We have lots of folks.

Mr. McMillan?
Mr. McMillan. Since we don't seem to be getting very far with

statistics, I would like to read from First Corinthians.

[Laughter.]
Mr. McMillan. "For we know in part, and we prophesy in part.

But when perfection comes, the imperfect disappears. When I was
a child, I talked like a child, I thought like a child, I reasoned like

a child. When I became a man, I put away childish things. Now we
see but a poor reflection, as in a mirror. Then we shall see face to

face. Now I know in part. Then I shall know fully, even as I am
known."
We are not looking at the facts. Part of our problem in dealing

with the future is the fact that we can't analyze the past. You have
a difficult time—and it is not your fault; it is in the nature of

things—explaining why medicare and medicaid are increasing at
the rate that they are. I know there are a lot of reasons, and they
include all of the above.
But this Congress has written legislation or not written legisla-

tion that has created an open-ended health care system out there
in which there are no controls. We sit up here, and we criticize

Reagan and Bush for not having solved the budget deficit problem.
The fact of the matter is that the budget deficit for the past decade
has been driven by the entitlement programs that are not defined

specifically enough to get them under control. Neither of those
Presidents had veto power over the—in fact, they are not included
in the budget year in and year out and, therefore, are not really a

part of the current discussion. Yet, that is what is driving the

budget deficit.

You know, we could do away with the defense program, we could
do away alternatively with domestic and discretionary spending
and still wouldn't balance the budget. The problem is in these pro-
grams. The fact that we are having such a difficult time describing
what has happened is the reason why we are inadequate at this

point to deal with the future.
I think a lot of it has to do with the changing nature of medical

care, some of which has been stimulated by medicare and medicaid.
The doctors raise Cain, or the hospitals, if medicare doesn't cover
their costs, or medicaid. The fact is there are a lot of people in the

hospitals today getting treatment that weren't getting it 20 years
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ago. Maybe the reimbursement rate is not 100 percent, but the pay-
ments, the cash flow is enormous. It has fueled or spawned a devel-

opment of a health care delivery system that we are not paying for

and someone else is not picking up the difference. I think that is

what we have got to honestly address.

My mother is 89 years old. I had to put her in the hospital last

week. In the space of 9 days, she got two CAT scans and one MRI. I

am not going to quibble about that, but they wouldn't have been
there 10 years ago.
Medicare reimbursed them. Did Congress pass a law saying we

are going to reimburse for CAT scans and MRI's and under what
conditions are we going to reimburse for CAT scans and MRI's?
We don't consider standards of practice when we set up reim-

bursement rates. We reimburse on a per-item deal. Therefore, the

system out there can just pile on stuff into medicare and medicaid.

Maybe it doesn't reimburse 100 percent, but the volume grows.
You mentioned that 4 percent of physician fees increases out of

10 percent were attributable generally to additional specialties

being applied. That probably is true. That may be even an under-
statement. Then if you add to that the cost of those specialties,
what those doctors are ordering, then it expands geometrically.
That I think is part of what we are into.

We really need some help, I think, in developing a way to deal
with this. The global budgeting approach would micromanage, it

seems to me, the whole system. We have been trying to microman-
age the system, it seems, through medicare and medicaid—unsuc-

cessfully.
We need to decide what percentage of payments we are going to

make. It is my understanding that medicare, when it began, was
only designed to reimburse 50 percent of the costs. Is that correct?

Dr. Reischauer. No, I don't think so. You might be referring to

the Supplementary Medical Insurance program. The premiums
that individuals paid when medicare was established were set to

equal 50 percent of that component's costs. So the beneficiaries in a
sense made insurance premium payments equal to 50 percent of

the total costs of supplementary medical insurance.
Mr. McMillan. Was it ever written into law what percentage of

the expected cost Government was undertaking to pay?
Dr. Reischauer. No, it wasn't. But a trust fund was established

for the hospital insurance program, and the theory
Mr. McMillan. But the trust fund is based upon some assump-

tions about the cost of care, or should be. I think that is part of our

problem. We have not really been willing to face up to what as-

sumptions we are operating under.
Dr. Reischauer. Well, no one foresaw the tremendous revolution

that was going to occur in medical care and the costs thereof. And
these programs say basically that we will provide, for certain of the

poor and the aged, medical services as defined by the medical com-

munity and others that improve medical outcomes.
Mr. McMillan. Well, I would say
Dr. Reischauer. So you are dead right. There is no limit placed

on these.

Mr. McMillan. Let me just close with this: I think there is a po-
tential solution to defining what the Federal role is and also facili-
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tating a competitive system out there that may not bid out busi-

ness on a one-shot basis but constantly rebids. That is the use of a

poHtically incorrect approach which is called vouchers or certifi-

cates that basically can be 100 percent of the expected cost of care,

or purchasing total insurance, scaled down by income to zero. That
cuts across the board, and that then becomes the currency with
which the system out there can get a competitive response. That is

certainly something that I want to explore as an alternative.

Thank you very much for your testimony.
Chairman Sabo. Mr. Coyne?
Mr. Coyne. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Reischauer, in recent days we have heard about a possible

$35 billion cut in the medicare program over 5 years. Do you have

any sense of who that ultimately is going to affect—the enroUees,
or is more going to be on the provider side?

Dr. Reischauer. I know no more about this than you do from

reading the newspaper, and what I have seen is speculation that

the medicare reimbursement rates, both for the DRGs and for the

relative value scale, would be frozen. That would reduce the
amount that providers, primarily hospitals and physicians, re-

ceived.

The way to affect beneficiaries directly, of course, is to raise the

monthly premium in the SMI portion of medicare. That was done
in the 1990 budget agreement, and maybe it will be done again.
But I haven't seen any
Mr. Coyne. I am just wondering if the providers cuts, as you just

outlined, would ultimately work their way down to the recipients.
Dr. Reischauer. The way such cuts work their way down to the

recipients is usually through access, that fewer doctors are willing
to be participating physicians in the medicare program. Something
like half of the doctors in America are participating physicians, so

there might be some reduction in access.
But we have to remember that medicare is a very large, impor-

tant program that controls a significant fraction of total hospital
and physician reimbursements in this country. So it is not too easy
for a physician to say, "I am not going to participate in this pro-

gram," or, "I am not going to serve these patients."
Mr. Coyne. On another subject, the
Dr. Reischauer. There is another problem, of course. All of the

evidence suggests that when you hold down or cut reimbursement
rates for physicians, they have the ability to increase the volume of

services—to have you come back twice for what they might have
done in a single visit before—and thus maintain their incomes, or
at least partially offset the loss of income that would have been as-

sociated with the reduction in fee schedules.
Mr. Coyne. Recently, the inspector general at Health and

Human Services has indicated that one way to curb the costs of the
medicare program is to raise the age at which you can receive ben-
efits to 67. Is it likely that if we were to adopt that, that would
create another pool of uninsured in the country?

Dr. Reischauer. I think it would because people primarily re-

ceive health care through employers or public programs. And it

might increase the age of retirement. But, of course, many Ameri-
cans retire before the age of 65 as it is. Those who retire early tend
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to be those who can get health care benefits through their former

employer as a retiree. So what you might be doing is shifting a

larger cost onto American industry, and, as I said before, this cost

doesn't come out of the current work force. It is hard for employers
to shift it onto the current work force, so the problems that compa-
nies like General Motors face in a competitive environment, which
Mr. Kildee pointed out, would be exacerbated and spread through-
out the Nation if we did that.

Mr. Coyne. Thank you.
Chairman Sabo. Mr. Kolbe?
Mr. Kolbe. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Reischauer, thank you for coming and sharing some of your

thoughts on this almost impossibly difficult topic.

In your statement, you made some comment about the fact that

the prospective payment has helped to give incentives to hospitals
to operate more efficiently. What evidence do we really have for

that? Have we been able to measure the efficiencies as opposed to

the cost shifting that is going on?
Dr. Reischauer. Well, we went from a system that basically re-

imbursed hospitals for whatever they did

Mr. Kolbe. I understand.
Dr. Reischauer. [continuing] where we said do something and

send us the bill, to a system in which we said if this person has an

appendectomy of modest proportions, you get X dollars whether
the person stays in the hospital 1 day or 11 days. After this system
went into effect, we saw that lengths of stay in the hospital went
down rather substantially for medicare patients. We also saw hos-

pital margins rise very rapidly because, by not using resources that

maybe weren't absolutely needed, they could, in a sense, make a

profit. The margin is the difference between the payments going in

and the cost of the resources for the treatment, and these shot up
quite significantly in the mid-1980's after this system went into

effect. So it is obvious that hospitals cut back on their costs.

Mr. Kolbe. Trying it from a different angle there, do we really
have any real evidence, though, that we are seeing competition—
the suggestion of efficiencies all suggest there is competition going
on on the basis of price. There is a lot of competition going

Dr. Reischauer. No, no. This wasn't created that way. It was

really an incentive that said if you use resources efficiently, you
can keep whatever you save because we are paying you a flat fee

for this diagnosis and treatment.
Mr. Kolbe. All right.
Dr. Reischauer. That is very different from competition between

different providers.
Mr. Kolbe. Okay. Let me try it this way, and then I want to

come back to the price issue. What evidence do we have that this

system has resulted in cost shifting to the private pay?
Dr. Reischauer. Well, we have the number that I just provided

you, which was that the average private insurer pays 128 percent
of costs.

Mr. Kolbe. Okay. So it has been-
Dr. Reischauer. I doubt if that would occur-

Mr. Kolbe. If you didn't have



Dr. Reischauer. [continuing] if the hospitals didn't have to shift

costs somewhere.
Mr. KoLBE. The suggestion that we don't know precisely what it

would be, but that we might cut—that President Clinton has sug-

gested that we might cut—medicare costs by as much as $35 billion

primarily by further reduction of payments to hospitals and doc-

tors, can you project what kind of additional cost shifting we will

have as a result of that? Will it be 100 percent?
Dr. Reischauer. We haven't made an estimate like that, but I

would assume that part of it obviously will come out of the quality,
the level of services that hospitals are providing, and part of it will

come out of

Mr. KoLBE. More cost shifting.
Dr. Reischauer. More cost shifting.
Mr. KoLBE. Would you agree that there is not a lot of evidence

that we see competition among hospitals based on cost, that we see

a lot of competition on quality? You see that all the time in adver-

tising; you know, have your spouse come on in and have dinner
with wine in the hospital with you in the room, all kinds of amaz-

ing things, and some very good things. But you receive very, very
little competition on the basis of cost, if any. Is that not true?

Dr. Reischauer. I think it was true, but it is becoming less true

because large purchasers of medical care, be they Calpers, a public

employee purchaser in California, or large corporations or large in-

surers are negotiating with hospitals and getting special rates, dis-

count rates, in effect. So it is becoming more common that under a

managed care environment your insurer might say, if you go to

Hospital A, B, or C, we will pay the full cost of it; if you choose
another hospital, you are going to have to pay 20 percent coinsur-

ance. That kind of thing. This is based on the fact that your insur-

er or your company has negotiated with the hospitals to get a spe-
cial rate.

Mr. KoLBE. Well, okay. I will leave that because my time is limit-

ed, otherwise I would like to follow up on some other issues,

maybe, and come back to that. But let me just ask you at least one
other question.

Dr. Reischauer. I am saying there is more of this than there
used to be. I am not saying that we have no competition here at

all. Don't get me wrong.
Mr. KoLBE. Yes, because I just wonder whether we are not just

engaging in some other kinds of cost shifting there.

Dr. Reischauer. I think that is true, too.

Mr. KoLBE. On medicaid, do you think that allowing the States—
medicaid is a curious system because, of course, as we know, it is a

mix. State and Federal. There is some flexibility to the States to

design their own programs. They have certain requirements and
minimums. Do you think that if we gave more flexibility to the

States, as we have talked about the laboratories of democracy to

reform the medicaid system, that we might find more effective

ways to utilize this program? If so, do you have any suggestions
about incentives we might give to States that could discover ways
to deliver that health care to the medicaid population in a more
cost-effective way?
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Dr. Reischauer. Remember that States right now pay 43 cents of

every medicaid dollar, and while that is not paying the full dollar,
it should provide them with some pretty strong incentives. This is

also one of the largest and fastest growing elements in their

budget.
Mr. KoLBE. Excuse me for interrupting, but we have significantly

limited what they can or can't do in terms of what kind of services

they provide that population, though, right?
Dr. Reischauer. Well, virtually all of the States provide more

services than the basic required level. Most States provide a rather
full range of additional services. I think their perspective is that

they are going to have to pick up the medical costs for these low-

income people one way or another, so they might as well do it

through the medicaid system and get Federal reimbursement for

part of it. So what you have seen is States expanding into areas of

providing services and care for developmentally retarded children

and mentally impaired people, because these, which used to be

fully State-funded programs, can now be partially paid through the
medicaid system.
Mr. KoLBE. Well, my final comment—okay. Thank you, Mr.

Chairman.
Chairman Sabo. Congresswoman Mink?
Mrs. Mink. Thank you very much.
Welcome again, Dr. Reischauer. I am very concerned and inter-

ested about the medicaid program because I think that this pro-

gram bears some degree of scrutiny. I had always understood that

the medicaid program had income eligibility criteria for participa-
tion. Is that not a true fact, that the States are required to provide
programs based upon certain income criteria?

Dr. Reischauer. There is a group of people who are categorically

eligible. These are the individuals who are receiving AFDC or SSI

benefits, and, of course, AFDC
Mrs. Mink. Everyone in that program is covered.
Dr. Reischauer. Yes. AFDC benefits vary State by State. So the

limit, obviously, is different from State to State.

The Congress has also adopted a series of mandates that require
States to provide care for pregnant women and children below a
certain level of poverty, 133 percent of the poverty line. So States

cover that on a uniform basis.

Then there is a component of the medicaid program that says if

you have unusually high medical expenditures, such that when you
subtract these medical expenditures from your total income you
get down to an income level that would qualify you for low-income
status or AFDC status, you are eligible for medicaid, too. So it is a

mish-mash, but they are not
Mrs. Mink. So how do you explain the statement in the material

that has been provided which states, "Despite the increasing
number of people eligible for the medicaid program, only about
half of the population with income at or below the poverty level

was covered by medicaid in 1991?" How do you explain that half of

the people that are below the poverty line are not even being
counted, and yet we see this rising cost item in our budget?

Dr. Reischauer. Many of those people are single individuals,

who would not fall into any category that I just described. Some of
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them are childless couples. They are young or late middle age or

older, and they would not be covered.

As I said, we have this procedure now in which we are covering
children in low-income families, but we are phasing them in. Ev-

erybody under 19 will be covered by the year 2002, I believe, but I

think we are only at the 9-year-olds this year. So you could be a
low-income family, either a single-parent or two-parent family,
with teenage kids and none of you would be eligible under these
circumstances. So those are the people who make up this half of

the poverty population that is not covered.

Mrs. Mink. So if the Federal Government made a decision in

looking at this overall health reform requirement and decrying the
fact that 35 million people are not covered, and in looking at that

picture made a decision to cover every individual that fell below
the poverty level, taking into account the other definition of a

medically needy person, what would be the additional sums of

money that would be required to fund such a program?
Dr. Reischauer. I was afraid you were going to ask that.

Mrs. Mink. Sorry.

[Laughter.]
Dr. Reischauer. I don't have a number. We can make an esti-

mate for you.
[The information follows:]

If Medicaid benefits were extended to everyone in families with income below the
federal poverty line, we estimate that federal spending would increase by $14.3 bil-

lion. Because the costs of the Medicaid program are shared by the federal and state

governments, state spending would increase by about $10.8 billion. Some 10.7 mil-

lion individuals who are currently uninsured would become eligible for the new
Medicaid benefits, reducing the number of people without health insurance by
almost one-third.

Mrs. Mink. It seems to me that that is just one very easy way to

meet this whole issue of providing care to a group that is already
identified by other Federal standards.

Dr. Reischauer. I think there are 50 Governors who might not

agree with that statement because they would be picking up 43

percent of every dollar spent on this. It would be a huge additional
burden on State governments, which already view themselves as

overburdened.
Mrs. Mink. I am talking in the overall review of our health cov-

erage programs. That is certainly one way that we could tackle
that problem.

Dr. Reischauer. Many of the proposals that are before the Con-

gress would do this in a different way. The managed competition
bill of Mr. Cooper would provide for a full Federal subsidy for all

individuals with incomes below poverty and a partial subsidy for

those with incomes between 100 percent and 200 percent of pover-
ty. So there are other ways of doing it besides expanding medicaid.

Mrs. Mink. Now, the States have had enormous difficulty in

funding this program, and you hear the anguished cries from all of
the State capitals. In much of what they say, they attribute the in-

creased costs and their problems to the fact that Federal laws

changed which mandated these additional costs, additional cover-

age, or the Federal regulations increased the cost.
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Could you elaborate on that, exactly what the impacts have been
over the last, say, 2 or 3 years of new Federal laws and regulations
and what this cost factor is with respect to the 43 percent share of

the State?
Dr. Reischauer. That is an issue that is subject to considerable

debate right now. We have a basic medicaid program that would be

expanding quite rapidly anyway, even if none of the Federal man-
dates had been adopted, because the economy is weak and so a lot

of people are being thrown into jobless status, and also because
there have been some court decisions, which would have occurred

an3^wa3^ that are forcing States to pay higher reimbursement levels

to providers. So it is almost impossible to separate those increases
from the various expansions that have taken place during the
1980's—the major one, of course, being the mandate that low-

income pregnant women and children under certain ages be cov-

ered.

Chairman Sabo. Why don't you provide that information in writ-

ing?
Dr. Reischauer. Okay.
Chairman Sabo. Also, under medicaid there are a variety of

State options of expanded benefits. If you have any record of what
States have exercised those options and which have not, we would

appreciate that information so we know what potential obligations
are out there that we have not dealt with.

Dr. Reischauer. Okay.
Chairman Sabo. It would be very helpful.

[The information follows:]

Several factors have contributed to rapidly rising Medicaid expenditures in recent

years, including enrollment expansions, service enhancements, and reimbursement

changes, some of which were mandated by the federal government. Many states,

however, have voluntarily expanded eligibility and enriched their Medicaid benefits

beyond the mandated requirements. It is not possible to separate the effects of man-
datory eligibility expansions and program enhancements from the effects of volun-

tary ones.
Given the limitations of Medicaid data, it is difficult to measure the relative con-

tributions of different factors to Medicaid expenditure growth. A study conducted by
Dr. Steven Long at the RAND Corporation, however, throws some light on this

issue. In 1991, Medicaid expenditures rose by $19 billion. Dr. Long concluded that
almost 40 percent of that increase reflected historical trends and 60 percent repre-
sented increases in expenditures above the historical trend projection. Most of that

"excess" growth was accounted for by increases in the number of beneficiaries

above the 1980-1988 trend, and the remainder represented increases in spending per
beneficiary in excess of medical inflation.

Nominally, the federal government pays an average of about 57 percent of Medic-
aid costs, with state and local governments paying the remainder. (The federal fi-

nancial participation rate varies by state according to per capita income. Currently,
the federal share ranges from 50 percent to 79 percent.) In the last two years, how-

ever, states have raised the effective federal matching rate above its nominal level

through the use of provider taxes and donations. Those financing devices have en-

abled states to generate additional federal matching dollars without corresponding
expenditures of state funds.
Most states provide many services for Medicaid patients in addition to those that

are required by the federal government. Furthermore, in July 1992, the following 30

states (and the District of Columbia) had income eligibility ceilings for pregnant
women and infants above the federally mandated level of 138.3 percent of poverty:

Arizona, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Hawaii, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas,

Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, New
Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Rhode
Island, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Vermont, Washington, West Virginia, and
Wisconsin.



39

Mrs. Mink. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Sabo. Mr. Miller.

Mr. Miller. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me ask a couple questions about the cost factor that you

brought up. One was the question of excess capacity. You say there
is a 60, 70 percent utilization in hospitals. What is the solution to

that? A lot of bankruptcies?
Dr. Reischauer. The solution is to close hospitals at a faster

rate. That is a very difficult thing because you are trading off

access. In some cases, what you are talking about is closing a rural

facility, which would make people go longer distances, but there is

also underutilization of capacity within metropolitan areas where
transportation and access shouldn't be a particular problem.
But we also clearly have excess capacity of high-technology ma-

chines, and the discussion of the two CAT scans and the MRI is a
classic example of that. We could use our expensive machinery
much more efficiently and limit the use to which it is put.
Mr. Miller. Is the Federal Government doing anything to help

reduce this excess capacity, or is it just the market kind of working
its way right now?

Dr. Reischauer. The Federal Government really isn't doing any-
thing. It is terribly difficult to do. You know, what we have some-
times is a community that has a Catholic hospital and a Protestant

hospital, and both are operating at 60 percent of capacity. So there
is a different factor that is brought into the decision on closing one
of them.
Mr. Miller. But a significant part of our cost problem is the

over-capacity, excess capacity; is that right?
Dr. Reischauer. I think so, yes.
Mr. Miller. Related to that, and we haven't discussed this, is the

veterans health care system. I saw in the paper recently where the

Secretary was saying, well, one way to get more money into the
health care system for the veteran program is to bill more medi-
care and medicaid. Well, you know, if we look at the total dollars,
it just seems like it is not the great logic to be using right there
when we have to look at the total dollars of health care. Are you
aware, or what is your familiarity with this subject that the Secre-

tary
Dr. Reischauer. We haven't looked at that, but obviously if you

shifted services to the veterans health care system, you would be

drawing them away from other facilities, and the excess capacity in

the other facilities would rise.

Mr. Miller. Did you see the quote from the Secretary?
Dr. Reischauer. I heard him on the radio, yes.
Mr. Miller. Okay. So it is a concern of yours. It seems like the

right hand and left hand have to get together on this.

One other question about the cost factor. Health care is a very
labor-intensive business, and what is your view as far as making it

more labor efficient? Are there a lot of efficiencies to be achieved?
If you look at studies of kids coming out of college and what jobs to

go into, health care is always one that is picked on with a great
future, which portends more costs of a labor-intensive business. Is

there much that can be done on the labor intensity side of the

equation?
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Dr. Reischauer. I think health care has actually become much
more capital-intensive over the years as we have substituted ma-

chinery for people. If you think about what has happened now in

the nursing world, there is a patient, and they plug the patient
into all sorts of electronic monitoring devices. One nurse at a cen-

tralized station monitors 15 or 20 patients rather than having
somebody go and open the doors every half-hour or so to see how
the patients are doing. There are a lot of areas like that where cap-
ital has been substituted for labor, and the labor that we are put-

ting into this industry, of course, has become more human-capital-
intensive. You have to train longer. You have to have more exper-
tise.

Where the greatest growth is occurring is in areas like nursing
home care, which is partially medical and partially basic living

help.
Mr. Miller. One last question. One way of reducing costs is re-

ducing usage, of course, and DRGs, which came in 1984, have been
successful. Correct me if I am wrong, they have been successful and

they have not affected quality of care. But that is what is causing a
lot of the rise in nursing homes and home health agencies.

Dr. Reischauer. And outpatient treatment.
Mr. Miller. Right.
Dr. Reischauer. We shifted things from the hospital to outpa-

tient venues.
Mr. Miller. Are DRGs recognized by both the medical profession

and the industry as being successful?
Dr. Reischauer. Well, I speak for neither the medical profession

nor the industry, but if by successful we mean reducing the

amount of unneeded hospitalization and not having an adverse
effect on outcomes, they would be regarded as successful.

Mr. Miller. DRGs are basically managed care in just one compo-
nent. The hospital is managing the care within that one component
rather than the fee-for-service medicine.

Dr. Reischauer. Yes. The hospital is given a lump sum payment
to treat an individual, so in a sense this is a capitation system by
diagnosis.
Mr. Miller. So it is considered a success from an economic point

of view.
Dr. Reischauer. From the analjrtical viewpoint, which is what I

speak from, the answer is yes.
Mr. Miller. How about from the quality standpoint, are you

aware?
Dr. Reischauer. There have been studies of that, and generally

the feeling is that it has not adversely affected quality.
Chairman Sabo. Mr. Miller, your time has expired.
Mr. Orton?
Mr. Orton. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Reischauer, welcome, and thank you for your testimony. I am

curious to what extent CBO, or to your knowledge GAO, may be

examining and analyzing the various programs. We have 50 differ-

ent States out there which are laboratories.

For instance, following up Mr. Kasich's point on changing the

tort liability laws, my State of Utah and neighboring Colorado and
others in the country have established very stringent restrictions
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on tort liability, in fact far more stringent than the AMA even rec-

ommends. I am wondering if there have been any studies about the
incidence of what is called defensive medicine in those States, and
if there have, if it shows a decline in defensive medicine practices
with a restrictive tort liability law in place.
And rather than going into details

Dr. Reischauer. I am not aware of any studies of that, and prob-
ably it is too early to tell. I believe these changes were made in the
last couple of years.
Mr. Orton. Utah has had it in place 5 years; I believe Colorado

has as well. There should be some empirical data that we could
start looking at, and that's something I would suggest that we start

doing.
Dr. Reischauer. Right.
Mr. Orton. Also, in my State of Utah and other States, the

States have enrolled a large percentage of the population eligible
for medicaid into managed care. This should be distinguished from
managed competition. As you know, it is not the same thing. But I

am wondering if the enrollment of medicaid patients in managed
care programs has shown any effect in reducing the growth of costs

in these States, and a followup, given that 70 percent of medicaid
costs go to long-term care, do you believe that managed competi-
tion would hold any hope for keeping down medicaid costs without
some complete systemic reform of the medicaid program.

Dr. Reischauer. A lot of questions there. The movement of med-
icaid recipients into managed care is a relatively new phenomenon.
People are looking at it and examining the impact. Most of the

people who have been affected by this are women and children
rather than the elderly and disabled, and they have been moved
into some of the looser forms of managed care, rather than being
enrolled in group or staff model HMOs, which are the form of man-
aged care that we know can significantly reduce total costs. They
have been enrolled in programs that provide them with a gatekeep-
er, in effect, and some of the emphasis has actually been on

making sure these individuals get the appropriate care that they
need, which could boost expenditures rather than hold them down.
So most analysts are not expecting big savings from that form of

managed care as applied to the medicaid population.
You are right with respect to the limited ability of managed com-

petition to deal with the nursing home and severely disabled popu-
lation. That's a very difficult issue, and it is not one that is laid out
in great detail in most of the managed competition proposals.
Mr. Orton. Given that medicaid already has in place three fairly

major cost control components which you have already talked
about in your testimony—namely, narrowly defining the range of
services that is eligible; a State cost-sharing mechanism, and a re-

quirement for paydown by the individual before they are eligible—
what do you believe would be the most important changes that we
could make to the medicaid program to contain costs in medicaid?
Is there anything we can do to contain medicaid costs? We already
have these three fairly major cost containment provisions in there.

Dr. Reischauer. I would disagree with you on the first of those
three. The basic benefit package that is required by the Federal
Government may not be extremely broad, but the average benefit
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package that is provided by the average State, in fact, has broader

coverage than any insurance policy I have ever had in my life.

Mr. Orton. So we could narrow the definition of what is eligible
for treatment.

Dr. Reischauer. We could narrow the definition and limit the
States' ability to provide a lot of ancillary services, and at the same
time
Mr. Orton. Some people call that rationing health care.

Dr. Reischauer. It would be rationing health care; it would be

denying eyeglasses or dental care or whatever to the low-income

population, and that is

Mr. Orton. Okay, but that being one, are there other major re-

forms which you could recommend that would have an impact on

lowering costs of medicaid? I am realistically looking—the Presi-

dent has suggested we can cut $35 billion out of medicaid—we are

looking at this, and we are told by you that
Dr. Reischauer. That's medicare he is talking about. Medicaid is

a pretty bare-bones program right now. It is reimbursing doctors

and hospitals at very low rates relative to what they get from other

providers on a per-person basis. If you look at the amount that is

paid for women and children, who would be more like the regular

working population, this is a program that spends a lot less than
the average middle-class or working-class family spends on health

care.

Mr. Orton. I guess that's my point.
Dr. Reischauer. So there is not a lot of fat.

Chairman Sabo. The gentleman's time has expired.
Mr. Orton. Thank you. I have a number of other questions. I

would like to ask permission to submit them in writing for re-

sponse?
Chairman Sabo. No objection; so ordered. They will be in the

record.

[The questions of Hon. Bill Orton and responses to same follow:]

Question: Would extending the Medicare Fee Schedule to everyone help to hold

down health care costs?

Response: If the Medicare Fee Schedule (MFS) were applied to all non-Medicare
services as well, spending on physicians' services would fall by perhaps 5 percent
overall. This drop in spending would occur because rates paid by private insurers

are higher than Medicare's rates, on average, although rates paid by Medicaid are

lower. In addition to this one-time drop in spending, growth in spending thereafter

might also be lower, for two reasons. First, rates paid by private insurers have
tended to increase more rapidly than Medicare's rates in the past. Second, the rela-

tive value scale that underlies the MFS incorporates a relative reduction in pay-
ment rates for the procedural services that are typically provided by specialists. In

the long run, this realignment of payment rates might induce more medical stu-

dents to train for general practice and fewer to enter specialty training. In this case,

not only would fewer expensive procedural services be provided, but also the ancil-

lary services that are recommended by specialists more than general practitioners

might be cut back.

Question: Given that far fewer Medicare recipients are enrolled in managed care

programs, does the extensive use of managed care or managed competition hold any
hope of restraining the growth of costs?

Response: Managed care encompasses a broad range of approaches for avoiding

unnecessary use of health care resources. These approaches, however, are not all

equally effective in containing costs. Staff model and group model health mainte-

nance organizations (HMOs) are the forms of managed care for which the largest

savings have been demonstrated.
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All care funded through the Medicare program and almost all care funded

through private health insurance is now subject to one managed care approach or
another. Only 4 percent of Medicare enrollees belonged to staff and group model
HMOs in 1990, however. In contrast, about 8.6 percent of people who were insured
either privately or through public programs other than Medicare and Medicaid be-

longed to staff and group model HMOs in 1990.

In principle, therefore, expanded use of staff and group model HMOs within the
Medicare program should have the potential to reduce total Medicare spending from
the levels it would otherwise reach—possibly by 10 percent to 15 percent if everyone
in the Medicare program were to join such an HMO.

If Medicare's HMO program were to expand in a more limited way, however, the

implications for Medicare's spending could be different. This is because evaluations
indicate that the Medicare enrollees who have chosen—voluntarily—to join HMOs
are healthier on average than those who have not. One study found, for example,
that Medicare expenditures on behalf of HMO enrollees in the two years preceding
their HMO enrollment were only 79 percent, on average, of expenditures for Medi-
care beneficiaries who did not join, after accounting for age, sex, and other factors

considered in the methodology used to determine Medicare's capitation payments to

HMOs. Because Medicare HMOs appear to be experiencing "favorable selection" in

this way, Medicare is probably paying more now for the care of HMO enrollees than
it would if they received their care under fee-for-service arrangements. Consequent-
ly, further voluntary expansion of HMO enrollment within Medicare would not
result in savings unless Medicare's method for setting its reimbursement of HMOs
could be adjusted to reflect more accurately the average costs of caring for those
Medicare enrollees who joined HMOs.
Whether managed competition could achieve savings for Medicare would depend

on several factors. The most basic is whether any system of managed competition
that was established would incorporate the current Medicare program. Most propos-
als have assumed that Medicare would be excluded, at least initially. Another factor

is whether, under a system of managed competition. Medicare would be paying pro-
viders a higher percentage of their actual costs than it does now. For example, the

Prospective Payment Commission has estimated that, in 1990, Medicare's reim-
bursement to hospitals covered about 90 percent of the costs that the hospitals in-

curred when caring for Medicare enrollees. A third factor is the extent to which the
introduction of managed competition would lower the average cost of providing
health care or the rate of growth in this average cost.

Question: Apparently there have been recent changes in the way CBO scores the

savings from any health care reform plan. Could you briefly explain those changes?
Response: We have altered our estimating techniques for proposals that involve

global expenditure limits. Since last summer, we have consulted a number of ex-

perts and have read a number of published studies on the effectiveness of various
control mechanisms in the health area. We have examined both the limited experi-
ence with global budgeting within certain geographic areas of the United States and
have looked at the experience of other industrialized countries.
CBO will examine the expenditure limits contained in a proposal with respect to

both the stringency of the limits and the specified enforcement mechanisms. Based
on our review, we will then rate the effectiveness of each expenditure limit. A fully
effective limit would receive a 100 percent effectiveness rating; a completely ineffec-

tive limit would be rated at zero. The estimated savings for the expenditure limit

would equal the difference between the cost of the bill without the limit and the
limit times the effectiveness rating.
We are hopeful that this estimating approach will allow us to provide realistic

estimates of proposals containing expenditure limits.

Question: How much revenue could be collected for the federal government if the

ceiling on the wage base for Medicare taxation is eliminated and the federal subsidy
for Part B is reduced to 65 percent?

Response: Current law exempts wages above the maximum taxable earnings level

($135,000 in 1993) from the Medicare Hospital Insurance tax. Repealing the maxi-
mum earnings level for Medicare, beginning January 1, 1994, would increase reve-

nues by $2.9 billion in 1994 and by $29.2 billion from 1994 through 1998. If the pre-
mium in the Part B program were raised to 35 percent of program costs, leaving a

federal subsidy of 65 percent, federal spending would be reduced by an estimated
$3.5 billion in 1994 and by $46.0 billion from 1994 through 1998.

Question: According to recent data released for Medicare, Part B outlays dropped
significantly for the first time in several years while the growth in Part A outlays
remained strong. Do you think the decrease in growth for Part B is directly attrib-

utable to the implementation of the Resource-Based Relative Value Scale (RBRVS)?
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Is there any evidence of a lag in collections of Part B claims? Do you think more
cost shifting is simply occurring?

Response: Medicare Part B benefit payments have grown an average of 13.0 per-

cent per year from 1985 through 1991. Data from 1992 are not yet complete, but

early examination suggests lower rates of growth in 1992. The implementation of

the Medicare Fee Schedule could have contributed to this lower rate of growth; how-

ever, we are still analyzing the data. In addition, the processing time by the carriers

seems to have increased.

We are currently awaiting final data on 1992 to determine how much of the de-

cline in growth is due to a real decline in payments and how much of it reflects a

slow down in the payment process.
We do not have data for other payers and are therefore unable to address the

question of cost shifting at this time.

Chairman Sabo. Mr. Price?

Mr. Price. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Reischauer, I appreciate your testimony today. It helps us

prepare for what are going to be some very important decisions

this year that I hope and expect we will be taking.
Let me go to the matter of how we pay for medicare, where the

funding for that program comes from. You indicate that payroll

taxes, that is, moneys collected from the active work force, account

for 54 percent of medicare funding; general revenues, 37 percent,
and then premiums paid by the beneficiaries themselves, only 9

percent.
Then in your testimony, you have some additional figures as to

how hefty that subsidy really is for the beneficiaries, suggesting an

annual subsidy of something like $2,000; is that right?
Dr. Reischauer. That's for the hospital insurance program alone.

Mr. Price. That's for Part A alone?
Dr. Reischauer. Yes, and then there would be Part B, and the

subsidy would be three-quarters of the total Part B cost per enroU-

ee.

Mr. Price. Historically, is that 9 percent figure a historic low?

What has been the trend there, and how does that compare to

what was originally anticipated when this financing structure was
established?

Dr. Reischauer. None of the framers had the wildest idea where
this program was going, so any reference back to 1964-1965 would
be like looking through the looking glass, in a way.
As I said at the beginning of my testimony, the SMI premiums

originally were set to equal 50 percent of the total cost of the SMI

program. I believe the SMI program has grown faster than the HI

program over the years, and I would expect that the current 9 per-

cent might not be a historic low, because we raised premiums 3

years ago, but we are bouncing close to the bottom in terms of the

contribution of current beneficiaries to the overall cost of the pro-

gram.
Mr. Price. Now, of course, these beneficiaries have paid a medi-

care tax through a portion of their working years.
Dr. Reischauer. That's where we got the $2,000. What we did

was look at the amount of tax that had been paid on their behalf

by them and their employers plus the interest that might have

been earned by that sum until the point they retired; then we
looked at the average amount of hospital services they were going
to receive over the rest of their life and discounted that; and we
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arrived at about a $2,000 difference between the two. So that figure
takes into account their contribution.
Mr. Price. And I was going to ask you to slice that statistic an-

other way and to estirnate how quickly the average retiree plays
out the insurance benefit of what he has paid in medicare taxes.
How soon does the subsidy kick in after retirement?

Dr. Reischauer. I don t have the exact number for you, but it

would be just a couple of years, I would think.
Mr. Price. Lower than the 5 to 6 years that we are now hearing

is the figure for social security; considerably lower than that.
Dr. Reischauer. The HI contribution rates were very low for a

long period of time, and hospital expenditures, of course, have been
rising at an extremely rapid rate. For the average male worker—
one who had worked all his life at sort of an average wage—the
SMI and HI benefits together would come to about $3,800 a year
for a beneficiary who turned 65 January 1st of 1992. This is a sub-
stantial amount of money.
Mr. Price. Now, assuming that some kind of premium adjust-

ment was an equitable way to reduce the amount of that subsidy, is

there some feasible way, do you believe, to means test the premium
one pays?

Dr. Reischauer. If you just raise the premium, of course, those
elderly people with very low income would be affected as well as
the retirees in Palm Beach. As I said before, the medicaid program
is now required to pay the premium for individuals with incomes
below 110 percent of the poverty line, so people who are very poor
would be protected.
But another way of doing this, and one that is detailed in our

deficit reduction book, would be to take the average subsidy
amount and treat it as taxable income. So you would send people
the equivalent, I guess, of a 1099 form, and they would add this to
their income. The vast majority of the elderly would still be below
the tax threshold so they would be unaffected by it, but those at
the very top would pay the equivalent of 31 percent of this subsidy
value.
Mr. Price. Since my time is about to expire, let me move very

quickly to a related line of questioning having to do with the RVS
system. That system, as you point out, was not designed mainly as
a cost saving measure in the first place. It was designed more to

equalize the payments to various specialties.
You suggest here, though, that there has been a 1-year savings

since that was instituted
Dr. Reischauer. No.
Mr. Price, [continuing] or, that's the way I read it—but that

overall, those costs were still going up, that it really was not

haying any kind of cost saving result. It, of course, wasn't mainly
designed for that, but I would still like to know your analysis of
that and also what are the kinds of mechanisms that might be uti-
lized to get some savings in Part B?

Dr. Reischauer. The law
Chairman Sabo. Would you be good enough to ask him to put it

in the record?
Mr. Price. Fine. If you will put that in the record, that is an im-

portant question, I think.
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Chairman Sabo. And not only put it in the record, but send it to
Mr. Price.

Dr. Reischauer. Yes, we can do that.

Mr. Price. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The information follows:]

By law, full implementation of the Medicare Fee Schedule (MFS) was supposed to

be budget neutral. Because the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) as-

sumed that introducing the MFS would generate an increase in the volume of serv-

ices billed to Medicare, it reduced the level of the blended rates paid in 1992 by 3

percent, and it reduced the level of the fully implemented rates by 6.5 percent, to

compensate for the expected volume increases.

There has not yet been enough experience with the MFS to determine its effects

on Medicare spending with any certainty. Outlays for 1992 and early 1993 have
been below expectations, but the reasons are unclear. One reason may be that the
overall increase in volume predicted by HCFA in response to the MFS was too

large. Another reason may be that payment of claims was slowed because of the

coding changes that were implemented along with the MFS. In the latter case, the
slowdown in spending will be quickly reversed.

In principle, spending could be controlled either by reducing the rates paid per
service, or by introducing limits on the number of services provided. For 1994, ac-

cording to CBO's projections, substantial savings could be had by forgoing the
volume-based adjustment to the payment rate update, and setting the update equal
to the unadjusted increase in the Medicare Economic Index. Unlike all other years
in the projection period, the volume-based adjustment for 1994 would increase the

update because actual spending growth in 1992 was below the target rate of growth
set by law. However, both CBO and HCFA estimate that half of the savings one

might expect from such a payment rate change would be offset by increases in

volume.

Savings could also result from better utilization review activities. HCFA eliminat-
ed its preadmission certification requirements for certain hospital stays in 1991, al-

though there is evidence from other insurers that such requirements are cost-effec-

tive. Instead of case-by-case oversight, HCFA intends to introduce retrospective
review of physicians' practice patterns during 1993, in an effort to change the be-

havior of those with aberrant and costly patterns. HCFA argues that this type of

utilization review is both more cost effective and less intrusive than case-by-case
oversight. Many believe that HCFA's activities in this area have been hampered,
however, by inadequate funding for these administrative functions.

Chairman Sabo. Mr. Allard?
Mr. Allard. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have several questions,

and we'll try and get through those if we can.
In your testimony about spending for medicare, you mentioned

that hospital spending is estimated to increase about 8 percent be-

tween fiscal year 1992 and 1993 compared with 38 percent for home
health care and 22 percent for hospice care and 28 percent for

skilled nursing facility care.

It's my understanding that you are looking at total dollar ex-

penditures in those areas. However, I didn't see anything that re-

flected the rate of change of utilization. In other words, I see a lot

of growth going on in home health care because the States are

pushing people into a home health care situation.

Do you have any figures that could assist us in making some sort

of an estimation in the growth of home health care. With the cur-

rent 8 percent growth in hospital costs, it may reflect that hospital
costs aren't growing as quickly as those other areas, but in reality
it may be because there is less utilization. I just wondered if you
could respond.

Dr. Reischauer. I think that's a very good point. In some cases,
the alternative to home health care might have been a longer stay
in the hospital, which would have pushed up the hospital compo-
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nent more. All of these components are in a sense intertwined, and
holding one down doesn't necessarily mean you aren't going to

affect the others.

Mr. Allard. Okay. So are you going to be trying to gather some
information on the number of people using home health care serv-

ices and the number of people in hospitals, so those numbers will

mean more to us? The way they are right now, I don't think they
mean a heck of a lot to this committee, frankly.

Dr. Reischauer. I think you are right that there is certainly an
increase in numbers of people using home health care and an in-

crease in the per-person use of health care. We can provide to you
and for the record whatever data exists

Mr. Allard. If you could do that.

Dr. Reischauer. [continuing] on the expected growth in the num-
bers.

Mr. Allard. It would be helpful if you could do that.

[The information follows:]

Within the Medicare program, the average number of home health visits per en-
rollee per year has grown fairly steadily, with one period of interruption. This aver-

age number grew from 0.43 in 1975 to 1.36 in 1984, declined to 1.14 in 1987, and
subsequently rose to 2.05 per enrollee in 1990. The Health Care Financing Adminis-
tration has projected continuing increases until 1997 in the average number of
home health visits per Medicare enrollee, the average reimbursement per visit, and
total Medicare spending on home health visits. [See House Committee on Ways and
Means, 1993 Green Book (May 1993), Table 37, pp. 212-213.]

In contrast, the average number of discharges from short-stay hospitals per aged
Medicare enrollee rose from 0.324 in 1975 to 0.381 in 1983, then declined to 0.302 in
1989. Average lengths of stay also showed a downward trend over this period.
There is no firm evidence that home health services have been substituted for

hospital services since Medicare adopted the prospective payment system (PPS) of

hospital reimbursement. Those who hypothesize that substitution has occurred

might point to three arguments. The PPS created incentives for hospitals to dis-

charge patients earlier than before and to substitute care from skilled nursing facili-

ties or home health agencies; home health agencies have developed a growing capac-
ity to provide sophisticated, technologically intensive care; and more hospitals are

reportedly providing home health care services, which are reimbursed separately
from inpatient care.

Nevertheless, a systematic analysis of variations among states in hospital and
home health use under Medicare and of changes over time in this use rejected the
substitution hypothesis. Using a variety of measures, it found no evidence that
shorter hospital stays had resulted in more extensive use of home health services.

[See C.R. Neu and Scott C. Harrison, Posthospital Care Before and After the Medi-
care Prospective Payment System (Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation, 1988).]

Mr. Allard. The other question I had is that you talked about
the SMI program, and in 1993, you said $46 billion in general reve-
nues will be necessary by 1998. Is that general revenues from pay-
roll taxes, or where is that general revenue—just out of the general
fund?

Dr. Reischauer. It's out of the general fund. "General revenues"
is actually a misnomer, because when you are running a $300 bil-

lion deficit, of course, some of those revenues come from borrowing
from Wall Street, from the issuance of Treasury notes and bonds.
Mr. Allard. So the people in the SMI program are paying the

$36.60 per month
Dr. Reischauer. Right.
Mr. Allard. [continuing] and then we have money not coming

out of the Medicare Trust Fund, but it is coming out of the general
fund; is that correct?
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Dr. Reischauer. Yes, general funds or general revenues are
transferred into the SMI trust fund, I believe.
Mr. Allard. So they are transferred
Dr. Reischauer. From the Treasury.
Mr. Allard. [continuing] from the Treasury into the SMI Trust

Fund.
Dr. Reischauer. Right.
Mr. Allard. Okay. Also, you had stated that the medicare hospi-

tal insurance will pay 60 percent more in benefits per enrollee over
their lifetime than the value of their contributions than those
made by their employers. How did you arrive at this percentage?
How did you calculate that 70 percent?

Dr. Reischauer. As I told Mr. Price, basically what we did is

take the average person retiring in January 1992 and say, let's give
him average wages back to the beginning of the medicare program,
which was 1965, and we'll tax those at the rates that existed, put
in a special place his contributions, his employer's contributions,
and the interest associated with
Mr. Allard. So I guess what I am driving at is did they have

time value of money? You did have interest on that figured in?

That's what I was wondering.
Dr. Reischauer. Yes.
Mr. Allard. Okay. Very good. There are a number of States that

have applied for waivers in the medicaid program—Colorado for

one; I think Oregon has another, and I think Arizona has a waiver.
Do you believe that allowing those States waivers in the medicaid

program would save dollars at the Federal level?
Dr. Reischauer. Most of the waivers that I am familiar with

have been an attempt by the States to rationalize their provision of
services to low-income individuals. They asked, "Why are we con-

centrating all of our resources on only half of the low-income indi-

viduals? There might be a better way to do this and spread it out
more evenly." The waivers that have been granted by and large
have been ones in which the Federal Government says it doesen't
want to be liable for any more than it would have had to pay
under the old system, but States can go up to that.

So I think it is more rationalization than cost saving that is in-

volved. But I'm not familiar with all these programs, so it is con-

ceivable that there are cost savings involved in some of them.
Mr. Allard. Yes. I think the States are making those decisions,

and it seems to me that we ought to give them the flexibility to go
ahead and use those waivers, and those programs that are working
the best, the other States would gravitate to those. And since it is a
match with the Federal Government, it seems to me that it would
just automatically reflect in some sort of a decrease in expendi-
tures at the Federal level.

Now, it also was pointed out earlier in the testimony that the
medicaid insurance, for example, is a much broader policy than the

average person owns out there and what usually goes into private
insurance, and I think that those States would look at that and ask
what do we want to provide in the way of good, basic medical care.

Dr. Reischauer. Yes, broader because States have decided to pro-
vide additional services, not necessarily because the basic benefit

package is broader. The required benefit package
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Mr. Allard. So you are saying the States voluntarily had those

expanded
Dr. Reischauer. States have voluntarily expanded the package a

great deal

Mr. Allard. What drove the States to do that?

Chairman Sabo. The gentleman's time is up.
Mr. Allard. Well, I would appreciate a response to the question

on what drove the States to do that.

Chairman Sabo. Why don't you submit that for the record so he
can respond?
Mr. Allard. All right. Thank you.

[The information follows:]

States have expanded their benefit packages beyond the basic requirements be-

cause they want to provide important services to their Medicaid populations, many
of whom—such as the elderly, the disabled, and pregnant women—have special
healthcare needs that they probably could not pay for themselves.

Furthermore, even in the wealthiest states, half of the costs of providing addition-

al services are picked up by the federal government, and in the nine states with the
lowest per capita incomes, the federal government pays at least 70 percent of the
costs.

In some cases, the Medicaid program enables states to obtain federal matching
dollars for services that they might have provided anyway, such as institutional

care for mentally retarded people, which is an optional Medicaid service. In addi-

tion, state and local governments can reduce their subsidies that pay for uncompen-
sated care in hospitals if more low-income people are covered by Medicaid.

Chairman Sabo. Mr. Costello?

Mr. Costello. Dr. Reischauer, I'd like to ask a question about
the issue of fraud in the health care field in general medicare and
medicaid. I wonder if you have any numbers as to an estimate as to

the percentage of money that the Federal Government pays out for

medicare and medicaid that is processed and paid out as a result of

fraudulent claims on the part of doctors and health care providers?
Dr. Reischauer. I don't have any numbers of that sort. I think

the General Accounting Office is the best source for that kind of

information.
Mr. Costello. You have no idea—you have not looked at that

issue?

Dr. Reischauer. No, we have not looked at that issue.

Mr. Costello. Do you have any idea what the Federal Govern-
ment is doing about the issue of fraud?

Dr. Reischauer. No, I don't.

Mr. Costello. You indicated in your testimony, both here and in

your written testimony, that you are estimating a decline in medic-
aid spending from the peak levels of 1991 and 1992. Can you ex-

plain why?
Dr. Reischauer. Well, medicaid spending was driven up very

rapidly in part because of the recession, and the recession is over;
the economy should be recovering. As it recovers, people will get
jobs, and some people who are on medicaid should leave the rolls.

That is reason number one.
Reason number two is that there has been a surge in coverage of

certain disabled individuals that was associated with some court

decisions, and once the backlog of cases like this is over, the growth
rate should slow down.
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And third, we are going through a period in which States are re-

sponding to the Supreme Court decision in the Virginia case that

upheld a certain interpretation of the Boren amendment—which

requires States to pay reasonable and adequate amounts to provid-
ers through the medicaid system—so we are getting a ratcheting
up of medicaid reimbursement rates. The level of medical spending
is still going to be very high; it's just that the rate of growth won't
be as astronomical as it has been over the last few years. Also, we
are phasing in these new populations that are required under the

mandates, and that will be over within a few years.
Mr. CosTELLO. But regardless of what happens to the economy if

we are out of the recession or not, there is a large percentage of

the people who are receiving medicaid benefits today who are el-

derly—the bulk of the people are elderly and disabled as opposed to

those who are just out of work or
Dr. Reischauer. The bulk of the dollars are spent on only 30 per-

cent of the beneficiaries, and those individuals and the spending on
them are clearly not sensitive to changes in the economy.
Mr. CosTELLO. Very good.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Sabo. Thank you.
Mr. Hoke?
Mr. Hoke. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I wanted to go back to some of the issues that Mr. Orton began

to explore, and make a couple of observations and find out what

your reaction is.

It seems to me that we are pretty much neophytes in the busi-

ness of government-provided health care in this country compared
to other countries, particularly in Western Europe, and that we do

very much have a rationing problem because we don't have a two-

or three- or multi-tiered system; we really only have one level of

health care in this country, and that is probably the world's high-
est level of health care that is available.
And yet in other countries that do provide government paid-for

health services, there are very much delineated tiers of service that

are available, and what somebody gets who is on the government
program is very different from what an individual who is not re-

ceives.

It seems to me that this is probably one of the reasons why we
have runaway health care costs in the United States, because we
don't distinguish or differentiate the level of care that is going to

be available as between people who are being paid for as what is

called an entitlement and they perceive it to be an entitlement,
and yet in fact it is very much a subsidized entitlement, subsidized

by the rest of the taxpayers, as distinguished and contrasted to

those individuals who are paying themselves personally or through
a privately paid insurance program.

It seems to me that in order to actually reduce costs, either we
have to give people a financial incentive to be well, a financial in-

centive not to see a doctor or use a health care facility, or we actu-

ally have to provide as government a lesser standard of care, a

bare-bones standard of care, something that does not give the same
two MRIs and/or two CAT-scans and an MRI, that Mr. McMillan's
mother received.
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And I know—and you backed off of it immediately, because obvi-

ously, this is almost a third rail—because we come out of a very
different tradition. We come out of an egalitarian tradition, we
come out of a democratic tradition where everybody gets the same.

Everybody deserves the same and ought to be treated the same. So
to suggest that those people whose health care is being provided for

by the government deserve less than those who are paying for it

themselves is something that you just should not even broach.

Well, I am broaching it, and I wonder what CBO's response is to

that way of recognizing that one of the reasons that costs have es-

calated out of sight.
Dr. Reischauer. Well, our government programs are the medi-

care and medicaid programs, and I would characterize neither of

them as being gold-plated in terms of level of coverage.
Mr. Hoke. Excuse me. I think you said just moments ago that

the coverage of medicaid exceeds any insurance policy that you
personally have had in your own life.

Dr. Reischauer. The coverage meaning the type of benefit that
is covered in the average state. That is very different from looking
at the reimbursement rate and trying to go to a doctor with that
reimbursement rate as full payment. Probably no doctor that I

have ever been to probably would accept that as full payment. So
we have a very complex issue here. On the one hand, medicaid
covers a great deal in some States—eyeglasses, dental work, vari-

ous rehabilitation services that might not be covered under my
Blue Cross/Blue Shield plan. But on the other hand, it pays very
minimal amounts, so these people go to what many people would
regard as second-rate providers.
Medicare, in contrast, is a fairly narrowly
Mr. Hoke. Let's explore that for 1 second, because I think that

you may be mistaken there. I mean, when you talk about Blue
Cross/Blue Shield, if your physician is participating in a UCR pro-

gram, the amount that he is actually reimbursed
Dr. Reischauer. Is considerably less.

Mr. Hoke, [continuing] is considerably less. At it may be, as Mr.
Kasich was suggesting earlier, that if we put some of these things
out for bid, you'll find that there are plenty of health care provid-
ers who are more than willing to provide those services at the
levels that are being paid for right now by medicaid.
And there is a way to determine quality with respect to that by

doing outcome studies, and all of that information is available. And
it could be mandated that if you are going to participate, you've
also got to provide the outcomes information.
Chairman Sabo. A quick response, and then we'll have to move

on.

Dr. Reischauer. My judgment is that very few of the doctors
that any of us in this room go to would sign up to participate in

medicaid under the current reimbursement limits and with the ad-

ditional requirement that they provide data on the outcomes of
their treatments.
Mr. Hoke. Thank you.
Chairman Sabo. Mr. Mollohan?
Mr. Mollohan. Dr. Reischauer, as I understand—and I'd like to

know if you agree—there is a reimbursement formula, and as I un-
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derstand, the formula is based purely on geography—the urban

physicians are paid more than those practicing in rural areas

Dr. Reischauer. That is true to the extent that the value scale

includes practice costs in it, and its assessment of practice costs in

rural areas—rent, utilities, overhead, whatever—is less than in

urban areas. But in theory this reflects the costs of running an

office, not the reimbursement for the human capital that the

doctor has.

Mr. MoLLOHAN. Overhead costs. So to the extent that's cor-

rect

Dr. Reischauer. It shouldn't be viewed as a discriminatory
factor.

Mr. MoLLOHAN. The problem exists as I understand it that in

rural areas, doctors are still performing services at less than cost.

And first of all—and Congressman Kildee reminded us that there

is a lot of cost-shifting—it is, at least in my experience as I talk

with doctors, frequently the case that a very high percentage of

these rural doctors' practice is a medicare practice. Consequently,
they don't have as great a patient population to shift costs to,

which results in the anomaly that while you are reimbursing them
less for overhead purposes, there is less of an opportunity for them
to cost shift if you follow that line of reasoning.
Do you agree with that line of reasoning?
Dr. Reischauer. To the extent that any provider has a high pro-

portion of medicaid and medicare patients, his or her ability to

shift is clearly reduced. But on the other hand, remember that we
went from a system that involved the usual, customary, reasonable

charges to one that is much more uniform across areas, and that

should have in a sense
Mr. MoLLOHAN. I am not addressing where we came from; I am

addressing where we are.

Dr. Reischauer. Well, with respect to cost-shifting, I think you
are right.
Mr. MoLLOHAN. Okay. So the problem is that that provides a dis-

incentive for doctors to practice in rural areas because of the access

problem that I referred to in my previous question.
I guess my question to you is do you have any idea of what sav-

ings to the government is associated with that differential, and
what costs would be involved in addressing the problem?

Dr. Reischauer. "Differential" meaning the practice cost differ-

ences across the
Mr. MoLLOHAN. No. I am talking about the differential of how

much it saves if you agree that there is a problem in providing a

disincentive for doctors to practice in rural areas, therefore creat-

ing a real access problem, some way you must get at that. So there

is, yes, a cost of living or an overhead cost factor here—it costs less

to practice in rural areas—and that's a benefit to the rural doctor.

But there is also this problem of not being able to shift the cost, so

that's a minus. While you have a plus up here, you have a minus
down here. And that provides disincentive as far as practice in

rural areas, and that's a real problem to get doctors to practice
there if they aren't going to make money, or make as much money.
So what is the
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Dr. Reischauer. I don't know the answer to that, but I think

there are a lot of other factors that discourage doctors from practic-

ing in rural areas that are probably much more important.
Mr. MoLLOHAN. Arguably there are, and that's something I

would like to explore. I can tell you it is a great concern to rural

doctors and it affects the practice, because so much of their prac-
tice is in the medicare area, so that they do not have opportunities
to shift costs.

I'd like for you to explore that more for the record, if you would.

Dr. Reischauer. Fine.

[The information follows:]

Although almost all physicians treat at least one Medicare patient during the

year, the limited information that is available suggests that Medicare payments are

concentrated on a minority of physicians whose revenues come mostly from Medi-

care patients, both in urban and rural areas. If this conclusion is correct, neither

urban nor rural physicians have much capacity to "shift costs"—that is, to raise

fees charged to non-Medicare patients.
There is no evidence, however, to indicate that rural or urban physicians found

Medicare's rates too low to cover costs in 1990. A 1990 survey by the American Med-
ical Association found that 94 percent of physicians had some Medicare patients, 96

percent accepted some new Medicare patients, and 80 percent accepted all new Med-
icare patients. These results did not differ appreciably between urban and rural

physicians. Because the Medicare Fee Schedule (MFS), implemented in 1992, in-

creased payment rates for rural physicians significantly relative to urban physicians

(by about 40 percent, comparing the most rural locations with the most urban ones),

rural physicians are less likely now to find Medicare's payment rates to be too low

to cover their costs than they were in 1990.

The comparative improvement in rural payment rates under the MPS should help
to induce more newly trained physicians to practice in rural areas, as does the 10

percent bonus that Medicare pays to physicians in Health Professional Shortage
Areas. Many analysts believe, however, that higher payment rates are only a par-
tial solution and that other measures will be necessary to compensate for the disad-

vantages of rural practice. These disadvantages include long distances to hospital

facilities, poor access to continuing medical education programs, and too few other

physicians with whom to interact and form group practice arrangements to reduce

each physician's on-call time. Some policy options that would increase the health

care resources available to physicians and patients in rural areas include, for exam-

ple, mobile medical facilities, medical transport services, and telecommunication

systems to facilitate physicians' consultations and continuing medical education. In

addition, medical schools might be encouraged to recruit students from rural areas

and to provide residency training positions in rural areas.

Mr. MoLLOHAN. Thank you.
Chairman Sabo. The gentleman's time has expired.
Mr. Pomeroy?
Mr. Pomeroy. Dr. Reischauer, I was very interested to note in

the material before us that over the next 5 years, medicare's share
of the Federal budget is expected to go from 9.2 percent to 12 per-

cent, moving to 13 percent in 1997, and that this is driven by (1) an
increase in persons eligible which accounts for 10 percent of that

increase, (2) rising reimbursement rates which accounts for 26 per-
cent of that increase, but (3) increases in the utilization and inten-

sity of services provided accounts for 63 percent over this period of

time.

This statistic, coupled with the information that the individuals

employed in health care services has risen 43 percent in 4 years,
leads me to the question: Do you see the explosion of medical serv-

ices as a snowballing phenomenon, where in increasingly short pe-
riods of time, we are providing more and more elaborate and com-

prehensive services?



54

Dr. Reischauer. That certainly has been the story of the last

decade or so. I think the country has finally received a wakeup call

on this, and a lot of attention is being paid at the national and
State and industry levels to doing something about it. So I would
expect that the pace of this explosion will subside, although it will

still far exceed the growth in the economy.
Mr. PoMEROY. Will it subside without meaningful health care

reform passed by this or a future session of Congress?
Dr. Reischauer. I believe it will subside somewhat, but not suffi-

ciently to satisfy the American people, without some attempt to ad-

dress this at a national level. It's an impossible thing to do, as I

suggested in my statement, either to grab one part of this beast to

control it or to do it piecemeal in the various States.

Mr. Pomeroy. Many of my colleagues this morning have men-
tioned medical malpractice as a contributor to defensive medicine

driving the number of procedures provided. It has been my experi-
ence as a State insurance commissioner that physician self-referral

or some type of production-based reimbursement for physician-con-
trolled clinics has been also a significant driver of medical costs.

Do you have an evaluation of that?
Dr. Reischauer. No, we haven't done anything on that.

Mr. Pomeroy. I don't have any more questions.
Chairman Sabo. Ms. Snowe?
Ms. Snowe. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I'd like to welcome you as well. Dr. Reischauer. I know the hour

is getting late, and I have just a few questions in two different

areas.

One is the possibility of the Clinton Administration imposing
price controls on health care and establishing a global health

budget. How effective do you think that would be in controlling
health care expenditures, and would that not lead to providers in-

creasing the volume of services—or, would you have to limit both
in order to make it effective?

Dr. Reischauer. Yes, you would. I certainly don't know what the
Clinton Administration is thinking of doing. If caps or expenditure
limits were placed at the national level with no translation of them
down to the provider, either at the State level or even below the
State level, they would be largely ineffective.

The response of providers during the Nixon-era price controls

was to offset their reduction in fees with increases in volume.
That's easy for some specialties and some types of doctors to do; it

is harder for others. For instance, if you are an anesthesiologist, it

is hard to run the same patient through anesthesia several times;
that is determined by the number of surgical procedures. But there
will be some offset of that sort unless there are also volume con-

trols.

Ms. Snowe. As you know, at least according to what we have
heard. President Clinton will be proposing a $35 billion cut in med-
icare. We have heard a lot about cost-shifting in order to accommo-
date the reduced payments to hospitals and doctors. Do you think
that cost-shifting could occur in this instance by reducing those

payments to doctors and hospitals with the $35 billion cap?
Dr. Reischauer. I think the $35 billion figure is actually the

total savings over a number of years, maybe 4 years.



55

Ms. Snowe. That's right.
Dr. Reischauer. And to the extent that this represented a per-

manent shift downward as opposed to just a temporary step that

was taken before full-fledged health care reform went into effect, I

think the effects would differ. But if we kept this in place for a

long time, I think the response you suggested would be there.

Ms. Snowe. On medicaid again—and I know that this issue has
been fully discussed here this morning—but it is a major problem
given the skyrocketing increases that you mention in your testimo-

ny and certainly indications for the State.

You don't have a dollar value in terms of what the Federal man-
dates represent vis-a-vis private health insurance coverage?

Dr. Reischauer. No, we don't.

Ms. Snowe. You don't. Could you provide that to the committee,
because I think that would be important. You talked about State

options, and it's true that they can provide additional services, op-
tional services, because they can get additional funding from the

Federal Government, also the reverse is true—they cannot reduce

any of the mandates that the Federal Government imposes on the

State, so they lack the flexibility and the latitude to address some
of these funding issues.

Now, what would you think about a block grant in medicaid?
Dr. Reischauer. It would be terribly hard to know how to dis-

tribute the block grant. Medicaid spending per State varies tremen-

dously, and it is not necessarily associated with the number of low-

income individuals in the State. Spending is determined in a sense

by State preferences, so it would be nonsensical, I think, to hand
out a block grant equal to the current distribution among States.

If you switched to a more reasonable or logical type of formula,
which might consider cost differences among States and numbers
of low-income people whom the Federal Government was concerned

about, and you didn't want to spend any more money than we are

spending now, a situation would arise in which immense amounts
of resources would be taken away from some States and other
States would receive windfalls. So it is a very difficult process to

get from here to there, I think.
Ms. Snowe. Yes, there are tremendous variations from State to

State in terms of the optional services that they provide.
Dr. Reischauer. That's right, and in terms of the reimbursement

levels to providers.
Ms. Snowe. I just think it would be interesting to evaluate the

Federal mandates in terms of what that represents in health insur-

ance coverage compared to private health insurance and whether
or not that would be sufficient in terms of the Federal Govern-
ment's responsibility and the role that it plays in the medicaid pro-

gram.
You made some reference to the fact about recent expansion of

benefits under medicaid for children under the age of 19 and fami-

lies with income below the poverty level. What did that represent
in terms of cost to the Federal Government and to the States? Was
that the most recent mandate from Congress?

Dr. Reischauer. This was first mandated in 1984 as an optional
service, and then in the mid-1980's it was required; then, in 1990,
the income level was raised along with the number of years that a
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child could be eligible. So it has been, in a sense, a creeping man-
date. It didn't all come into effect at one time or get passed at one
time. We've expanded it throughout the 1980's and 1990.

Ms. Snowe. So we don't have the value of the cost of that man-
date, which would be the most recent one.

Dr. Reischauer. No.
Ms. Snowe. Could you provide that for the committee as well?
Dr. Reischauer. I am not sure methodologically that we can, but

I'll provide whatever we can to you and to the committee.
Ms. Snowe. Okay, thank you.
Chairman Sabo. In addition to that question, would you also pro-

vide to us a description of what the options are? My understanding
is that States have the option to go up the income scale

Dr. Reischauer. Right, to 185 percent of poverty for children
below a certain age.
Chairman Sabo. Yes. And then there is another cutoff for older

children.

Dr. Reischauer. That's right.
Chairman Sabo. And if we could have a description of what

those various options are that are available to the States, with
some number attached to what we mean by "x" percent of the pov-

erty level. I have difficulty at times relating that to what actual
dollars are.

Dr. Reischauer. Family incomes; right. Okay.
[The information follows:]

All states must provide the following benefits to their categorically needy Medic-
aid beneficiaries: hospital services; physician services; laboratory and X-ray services;

family planning services; nursing facility services for persons over age 21; home
health care for persons entitled to nursing facility services; Early and Periodic

Screening, Diagnosis, and Treatment program services for people under 21 years
old; services provided by rural health clinics and federally qualified health centers;
and the services of nurse midwives, certified pediatric nurse practitioners, and certi-

fied family nurse practitioners (in states where those providers are authorized to

practice).
The mandated Medicaid benefit package differs from a standard health insurance

plan in several important ways. From a cost perspective, however, the two major
distinctions are Medicaid's coverage of long-term care and prohibition on most
forms of cost sharing. If a policy with both those features could be purchased in the

private sector, it would be extremely costly. Because of low reimbursement rates,

however, state Medicaid programs probably do not pay as much for the mandated
benefits as would a private insurer.
The states report that they will spend an average of about $2,300 per Medicaid

beneficiary for mandated services in 1993. (That may be a slightly high estimate be-

cause it includes all dental services, most of which are optional.) By contrast, cur-

rent projections indicate that an average employment-based policy will cost about

$1,700 for individual coverage and about $4,500 for family coverage in 1993.

Every year between 1984 and 1990, the Congress passed legislation giving states

options or mandates to expand Medicaid eligibility. The most recent mandate, which
was included in the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 (OBRA-90), requires
the states to cover all children under age 19 born after September 30, 1983, in fami-

lies with income below the poverty level ($11,890 for a family of three in 1993).

Thu^, all poor children under age 19 will have Medicaid coverage by the year 2002.

Unfortunately, the available data do not allow us to track the actual costs of this

mandate. At the time that the legislation was passed, however, CBO projected that
it would cost the federal government about $.560 million over the 1991 to 1995

period, with over 40 percent of the costs occurring in 1995. (Since a new cohort of

children is added each year, annual costs will continue to rise every year until

2002.) Assuming that the federal share of Medicaid expenditures remains at about
57 percent, that estimate translates into a total increase in Medicaid expenditures
of almost $1 billion for the five-year period.
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As a result of previous legislation, states must also provide coverage to all preg-
nant women and children under the age of 6 in families with income below 133.3

percent of poverty. In addition, they have the option to provide coverage to infants

under 1 year old and pregnant women in families with income below 185 percent of

poverty.

Beginning in 1993, OBRA-90 also requires states to pay Medicare Supplementary
Medical Insurance premiums for Medicare beneficiaries who meet the required
asset tests and have income below 110 percent of poverty. That income eligibility

criterion will rise to 120 percent of poverty in 1995.

Chairman Sabo. Okay. Thank you very much. We appreciate you
being here today and answering all the questions of our members.
Thank you very much, Dr. Reischauer.

Dr. Reischauer. Thank you.
Chairman Sabo. The committee is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 12:15 p.m., the committee was adjourned.]

[Additional material submitted for the record follows.]

Prepared Statement of Hon. Lucien E. Blackwell, a Representative in

Congress from the State of Pennsylvania

Mr. Chairman, I want to first commend you for calling this hearing on Federal
health care problems. Holding this hearing on the eve of President Clinton's an-

nouncement of his proposed economic stimulus and deficit reduction package, dem-
onstrates your understanding that we really can't discuss deficit reduction without

discussing the spiraling costs of health care.

The American health care system is in deep trouble. Health care spending is out

of control. As a result, millions of Americans with health care coverage are unable
to afford any care beyond the bare essentials. Millions more go without coverage

altogether. 'The cost of providing health care to America is expected to rise from

$838 billion in 1992 to an estimated $939 billion in 1993, and to more than $1.7 tril-

lion by the year 2000.

In my State, there are fathers with jobs, standing in the soup lines, bent and
broken because needed medical care cost $50, and they only had $5. There are fami-

lies forced to make choices between long-term care and college tuition. There are

mothers, with children, unable to ease their pain and suffering because the cost of

prescription drugs has gone beyond their means to pay. This is a crisis we can no

longer ignore.
Driven by seemingly uncontrollable medicaid and medicare costs, Federal spend-

ing for health care is one of the leading causes of the Federal budget deficit. Accord-

ing to the Congressional Budget Office, medicaid costs will increase from $68 billion

in 1992 to $146 billion by 1998, and will comprise about 9 percent of all Federal

spending in 1996, compared with 3 percent in 1990. Medicare costs will increase by
an average of 12 percent between 1994 and 1998. Those increases are on top of the

projected spending of $134.1 billion in 1993 for medicare, an amount that represents
9.2 percent of total Federal spending. Fraud, abuse and poor management exacer-

bate the problem.
The high cost is putting health care beyond the reach of more and more Ameri-

cans. Over the past 3 years, some 13 percent of employers with 50 or fewer employ-
ees have eliminated health care coverage as a benefit of employment. Currently,
some 35 million citizens, 14 percent of the entire population, have no coverage, and
the number is rapidly rising. Unless we do something about this problem, we will

become a Nation of sick people, unable to produce and help the economy to grow.
The linkage between health care and economic recovery is clear and, it is grounded
in more than just dollars.

We must begin now to contain health care costs, to make long-term care afford-

able, to make a way for every person in need to be able to pay for medication and to

provide health care coverage for all. Of these goals, cost containment is paramount.
If we can not contain costs, we can not have affordable health care and medication
for all. More importantly, if we can not contain costs, we can not reasonably expect
to have a deficit reduction program.
Mr. Chairman, I cannot close my remarks without recounting a situation which

brought this issue dramatically to my attention. Last spring, reading the Philadel-

phia Inquirer, I noticed an article about a seven month old baby girl in need of a
liver transplant. The family could not afford the operation. The operation was a

very delicate one that could only be performed in specialized areas. After reading
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the article, I was contacted and asked if I could assist in helping this child and ner

family. I immediately called the Commissioner of Health in Philadelphia, and to-

gether with other city officials, we arranged to have the child flown to Boston for

the operation. Unfortunately, during our search for transportation, the baby became
ill and died before the operation could be performed. Here was an innocent life, not

just a number, but a human being, whose untimely death occured only because this

Nation currently lacks the resolve and the program to care for all of the sick, when
needed. I look forward to this hearing as the beginning of a commitment by the

Congress to join with the President in designing a system that provides health care

for all. That, it seems to me, is fundamental.
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